
Cabinet
05 September 2017

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 5TH SEPTEMBER, 2017 AT 

9.30 AM

Venue - NORFOLK & DEREHAM ROOMS, THE 
CONFERENCE SUITE, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE 
TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday, 25 August 2017

Public Document Pack



Cabinet
05 September 2017

Page(s)
herewith



Cabinet
05 September 2017

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 15

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2017.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 

16 - 52

To consider the grants put forward.  

8. BUSINESS RATES FOR THE DEREHAM PILOT SCHEME 53 - 67

Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Executive Member for Place 
(Health Lead).

9. QUARTER 1 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017-18 68 - 77

Report of Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance.

10. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next Cabinet meeting will be on Tuesday 17 
October at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham.

11. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider passing the following resolution:

Page(s)
herewith



Cabinet
05 September 2017

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 4 of Schedule 
12A to the Act”.

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC 
ARE EXCLUDED  

12. PROCUREMENT OF WASTE AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT 78 - 89

Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Executive Member for Place 
(Health Lead).

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Monday, 10 July 2017 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak

Also Present
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr K. Martin

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr J Newton
Mr P S Wilkinson

In Attendance
Alex Chrusciak - Director of Planning and Building Control
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Stephen James - Communities Manager
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
James Mann - Planning Policy Officer
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Tim Mills - Executive Manager Growth
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
Sarah Robertson - Senior Planning Policy Officer*
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By

69/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 May 2017 were confirmed and signed 
by the Chairman. 

70/17 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors S Chapman-Allen and Webb.

71/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

The minute from the item of Urgent Business can be found at reference 
82/17.

72/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Cowen declared an interest in Agenda Item 7 as he worked as an 

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
10 July 2017

2

Architect within the Breckland district.

73/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Crawford, Hollis, Newton, Martin, Matthews and Wilkinson were in 
attendance.

74/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

75/17 BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN AND THE STRATEGIC HOUSING MARKET 
ASSESSMENT DOCUMENT 

The Senior Planning Policy Officer informed Members that the Central Norfolk 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment formed the key element of the housing 
evidence which was required to support the Local Plan.  The key element of 
the report was the housing target to be delivered across the district equated 
to 612 dwellings per annum for the Local Plan during the period of 2011 – 
2036.

The Executive Member for Growth added that there had been a good debate 
of both the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), and the Breckland 
Local Plan at the Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 6 July.

He went on to ask Members for an additional recommendation, which would 
be for Cabinet only; to approve the seventh revision Local Development 
Scheme (Appendix C) and publish on the Council’s website and make 
available as per the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004), as amended.

Councillor Cowen asked if the SHMA reflected the fact that Breckland looked 
to the Cambridge area, especially as Thetford would continue to grow and 
work continued with the A11 Technology Corridor.  The Director of Planning 
and Building Control said the SHMA considered the best fit for the majority of 
the district which had an indelible link with Norwich based on current patterns 
of movement in the housing market and travel to work patterns.  

Councillor Martin noted there had been a number of applications for 
Attleborough which in turn had made the Attleborough Link Road viable.  He 
asked if the plan would continue to support growth in Attleborough.  The 
Director of Planning and Building Control responded by informing Members 
that the update to the SHMA had identified that the number had increased by 
400, due to people living in smaller houses, and it would be a combination of 
development and housing that would continue to see the performance 
against the need.

Councillor Cowen raised a number of points: 
 Housing Policy 3 - why had growth been restricted when considering 

the difference of the 5-year land supply given Breckland were under-
achieving.

 Housing policy 4 and 5 - over the next 12 months there would be no 
growth in the villages and wanted confirmation that there would be a 
flexible view on this.

 Housing Policy 13 referred to agricultural workers of which there were 

Action By

6



Cabinet
10 July 2017

3

a number of industries that relied upon a large number of contractors 
within the agricultural industry, and was keen to ensure a flexible 
approach to this. 

 It was noted that the Biomass Power Station had not been highlighted 
within the map.

The Director of Planning and Building Control clarified that the document was 
the pre-submission of the Local plan and were asking for comments on the 
soundness of the plan.  The Plan would set out the way in which the Planning 
Authority would facilitate large scale development in Attleborough and 
Thetford.  Housing Policy 3 would provide flexibility up to a point, but it would 
not be open ended as it could not be easily managed.
With regard to agricultural workers the policy related to national guidelines 
which set out the baseline.  

The Director of Planning and Building Control said that following the question 
raised at the Overview and Scrutiny meeting regarding the policy relating to 
open space, changes would be made to the preamble and the glossary of 
terms to ensure that it was explicit that this included allotments as a form of 
open space.  In addition changes would also be made with regard to the 
County Council’s minerals and waste Local Plan policies for safeguarding 
mineral resources.

The Strategic Planning Manager clarified that the Snetterton Biomass power 
station had was under construction, and as such, there was no 
accompanying policy in the plan. Therefore, there was no requirement for 
zoning on the policies map. He pointed out that once constructed the power 
station would appear on the Ordnance Survey base mapping that the local 
plan maps were derived from hence would be visible. 

Councillor Claussen reminded the Members that the Mattishall map needed 
to be amended as per the Overview and Scrutiny recommendation and the 
site should not be within the document. It was confirmed this map would be 
corrected before submission to Full Council.

Councillor Wilkinson said a car was essential within the rural area but that 
housing should be developed within villages to allow families to move to be 
closer together. 
The Chairman thanked the Executive Member for Growth, Members and 
Officers that had been involved in the Local plan, and recognised that this 
had not been an easy task.  

Options
Option A: Members agree that the Council publishes the Local Plan 
document in accordance with Regulation 19 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Members further 
agree to submit the Local Plan to the Secretary of State for an Examination in 
Public by a Government appointed Inspector. Where minor modifications are 
needed prior to the submission of the Local Plan and/or any amendments to 
the Local Plan arising during the Examination in Public, Members agree that 
these be delegated to the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the 
Leader and Executive Member for Growth.

Option B: Members do not agree that the Council publishes the Local Plan 
document, nor agree to submit the Local Plan document to the Secretary of 

Action By

7



Cabinet
10 July 2017

4

State for an Examination in Public by a Government appointed Inspector.

Reasons
Members are asked to approve Option A in order to allow the timely 
progression of a sound Local Plan development framework for the District.

It was RESOLVED that:

Cabinet approve the seventh revision Local Development Scheme (Appendix 
C) and publish on the Council’s website and make available as per the 
provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), as 
amended.

Cabinet RECOMMENDS to FULL COUNCIL:

1) that Members endorse the Regulation 19 Pre-Submission Local Plan, 
Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment for a six 
week publication period be endorsed;

2) to agree that, following statutory public consultation, delegate powers to 
the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader and 
Executive Member for Growth to submit the Local Plan, subject to any 
minor modifications for examination provided that no substantive 
objections have been submitted;

3) to delegate to the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the 
Leader and Executive Member for Growth to make minor modifications 
and amendments to the draft Local Plan prior to commencement of the 
Statutory Public Consultation;

4) to delegate to the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the 
Leader and Executive Member for Growth to agree amendments to the 
Local Plan arising during the Examination in Public.

In addition, Members considered the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment as part of the evidence base to inform the Local Plan.

76/17 GRANT FUNDING 

The Executive Member for Place said the report asked Members to consider 
the funding arrangements going forward to ensure the sustainability of the 
grant giving programme in the long term and said the £500 grant given makes 
a huge difference to people.

The Executive Director for Place was proud of the grant funding over the 
years, of which over £200,000 had been given out over a significant period of 
time and wanted to continue to do this.  He said that £150,000 would be 
available for the next 2 years, and asked for any remaining balance from the 
reserve be deallocated.  He was conscious that if this approach was taken 
then there would be less finance available that had been used to, hence the 
introduction of a Breckland Lottery scheme.  He added that similar local 
authorities had reported a return of £60,000 in availability.  
This would involve new procedures in terms of the Gambling Act and there 
would be a requirement of registering named Officers as individual Licence 
holders.

Action By

8



Cabinet
10 July 2017

5

Councillor Robinson added that 39 Authorities were currently operating this 
scheme, and felt it was a good initiative allowing residents to see the causes 
that their money would be supporting. 

The Chairman asked that the deallocated reserve be linked to the Council’s 
developing investment strategy and should be added to Recommendation 1.  

Options

A combination of Options 4. and 5. is recommended.

1) It is recommended that £300,000 is maintained in the match funding 
reserve to support local voluntary and community groups in 2017/18 
and 2018/19 with up to £150,000 funding per annum.  The current 
match funding procedures will remain in place for this sum.

2) It is recommended that the remaining balance in the match funding 
reserve is deallocated and made available for spend elsewhere linked 
to the Council’s developing Investment Strategy. 

3) It is further recommended that a Breckland Lottery is established to 
supplement the grant giving arrangements described above.

4) Continuing to operate the match funding (as it stands) for the 
remainder of 2017/18 and through 2018/19 [with £150,000 available 
per annum] will enable the transition to the new arrangements to be 
managed effectively, i.e. the lottery scheme to be introduced and the 
return from any investment to be realised (and subsequently used for 
grant funding).  

5) The combination of both options would ensure that we can continue to 
invite applications from communities across the district (using the 
investment yield) for funding and support specific, pre-identified “good 
causes” through the Breckland Lottery.  

6) This combined approach would ensure the longevity of grant funding, 
provide a more strategic approach to any allocations and be more 
affordable. 

Reasons

A combination of Options 4. and 5. is recommended.

It is recommended that £300,000 is maintained in the match funding reserve 
to support local voluntary and community groups in 2017/18 and 2018/19 with 
up to £150,000 funding per annum.  The current match funding procedures 
will remain in place for this sum.

It is recommended that the remaining balance in the match funding reserve is 
deallocated and made available for spend elsewhere linked to the Council’s 
developing Investment Strategy. 

 It is further recommended that a Breckland Lottery is established to 
supplement the grant giving arrangements described above.

Action By

9



Cabinet
10 July 2017

6

Continuing to operate the match funding (as it stands) for the remainder of 
2017/18 and through 2018/19 [with £150,000 available per annum] will 
enable the transition to the new arrangements to be managed effectively, i.e. 
the lottery scheme to be introduced and the return from any investment to be 
realised (and subsequently used for grant funding).  

The combination of both options would ensure that we can continue to invite 
applications from communities across the district (using the investment yield) 
for funding and support specific, pre-identified “good causes” through the 
Breckland Lottery.  

This combined approach would ensure the longevity of grant funding, provide 
a more strategic approach to any allocations and be more affordable. 

It was RESOLVED that:

1) Cabinet RECOMMENDS to FULL COUNCIL a match funding reserve of 
£300,000 is maintained for grant giving in 2017/18 and 2018/19 
(£150,000 per annum) and that the remaining balance from this reserve is 
deallocated and made available for investment linked to the Councils 
developing investment strategy;   

2) A Breckland Lottery is introduced and subject to due diligence and 
procurement an External Lottery Management company is engaged;

3) The Executive Director of Place and the Place Manager are nominated to 
be the Personal Licence holders for the Breckland Lottery; 

4) Delegated authority is given to the Executive Director of Place, in 
consultation with the Executive Member of Place, to agree the criteria for 
the inclusion of ‘good causes’ that would benefit from lottery funding.

77/17 PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) - THETFORD 

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager outlined the report 
on behalf of the Executive Member.  An online consultation had been 
created, as well as paper copies made available within public buildings 
across the town.  In total, 450 responses had been received.  

He went onto explain that the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) would 
replace the Designated Public Place Order (DPPO) as this gave more 
flexibility of powers for the police, and did not just relate to alcohol.  The 
Council had a statutory duty to work in partnership with other agencies to 
reduce crime and anti-social behaviour.  

Councillor Cowen asked for the definition of a public place as he felt 
implementing the PSPO could have an impact on the Riverside area within 
Thetford.  It was confirmed that the order would not have an impact on the 
licensed areas.

Councillor Bambridge said he had seen that the PSPO covered a large area 
within Thetford including residential areas, and asked if this would have an 
impact on residents who wanted to hold garden parties.  The Communities 
and Environmental Services Manager said that the area had been developed 

Action By

10



Cabinet
10 July 2017

7

in partnership with the Police who would consider if Anti-Social behaviour was 
taking place, and therefore would have the powers should they wish to use it.

Councillor Crawford supported the PSPO and added that a thorough 
consultation had been carried out and felt it was much needed within 
Thetford.

Councillor Robinson asked for assurance that the communication strategy 
was clear across all stakeholders.

Councillor Newton appreciated the time and effort that had been put into the 
report of the PSPO.  However, he reiterated the importance of the continued 
support of the public required to call 101 to report the street drinking 
occurrences for the order to succeed.  He asked for assurance that if the 
proposal was agreed appropriate signage would be placed in the designated 
area and civil action be taken against resistant drinkers.

The Chairman said that the document provided a framework for the remaining 
market towns to follow.  He added that there were people within local 
communities who had influence such as communities and ward members to 
work together to tackle the issues.

The Executive Director for Place confirmed that the signage was statutory 
and would be in place.  He also added that Breckland were the first authority 
within Norfolk to have an Operational Partnership Board who worked together 
to tackle anti-social behaviours across the district.

Options
1) Do nothing. This will mean that the existing Designated Public Place 

Order (DPPO) will remain in place until 20 October 2017. At this point it 
will automatically become a Public Spaces Protection Order (to address 
alcohol in public) without the need for any additional action on the part of 
the Council.

2) Option 2. Proceed with the implementation of the PSPO for the restricted 
area (Appendix B) prohibiting the following activities:

a)   Consumption of alcohol in a public place
b)   Urination and defecation in a public place
c)   Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone

3) Delegate authority to the Executive Director Place in consultation with the 
Executive Member Place, to adapt existing PSPOs.

Reasons
The Council has a statutory duty to work in partnership with other agencies to 
reduce crime and anti-social behaviour.  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 introduced new powers to tackle anti-social behaviour, 
one of which being the power to implement Public Spaces Protection Orders. 

The consultation exercise has evidenced significant support from all 
stakeholders for the proposed PSPO to be implemented

It was RESOLVED that:
1) Members note the results of the consultation exercise (Appendix A)

Action By

11



Cabinet
10 July 2017

8

2) Members approve Option 2 and agree to proceed with the implementation 
of the PSPO for the restricted area (Appendix B) prohibiting the following 
activities:

a) Consumption of alcohol in a public place
b) Urination and defecation in a public place
c) Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised 

zone

3) Members approve Option 3 and agree to delegate authority to the 
Executive Director Place in consultation with the Executive Member 
Place, to carry out variations to any implemented PSPOs 

78/17 UNSIGHTLY AND DERELICT SITES AND LAND 

The Executive Member for Place informed Members that the report had been 
well received at the recent Overview and Scrutiny meeting and the Council 
should celebrate and do more of this work.

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager informed Members 
that after a consultation exercise, 38 sites across the district had been 
highlighted as significantly or adversely impacting upon the character and 
appearance of the immediate and wider environment, or the general well-
being of communities.  As this was a new initiative, a scoring mechanism had 
been applied consistently across the list.

Overview and Scrutiny Commission supported the recommendations to 
Cabinet, and asked that the following recommendations be added:

1) The ability to add the facility to report unsightly sites on the website, 
under the ‘report it’ button.

2) That Cabinet asks Officers to explore what action can be taken on 
untidy sites where planning permission has been granted but the 
development has not yet been completed.  

The Chairman noted the additional recommendations.

Councillor Matthews asked what powers the authority had if buildings were in 
private possession.  The Executive Director of Place confirmed there was a 
raft of powers the Council could use.

Options
1) Do nothing - This option would result in no, or limited and 

uncoordinated, action being taken on the sites so far identified, and 
perhaps others, with these sites therefore potentially remaining in a 
state that continues to significantly and adversely impact on the 
communities within which they are set.

2) Endorse the recommendations – This option would enable officers to 
focus their efforts in securing, through a variety of negotiated and 
punitive measures, significant improvements to sites that currently 
adversely affect the communities within which they are set.

3) In endorsing the recommendation set out at 2.2 members are advised 
that each site is different and that the actions required have differing 

Action By

12



Cabinet
10 July 2017

9

consequences, both financially and in terms of the timescales within 
which results are likely to be achieved. Nevertheless, this is an on-
going initiative aimed at addressing the adverse impacts arising from 
the continued presence of unsightly and derelict sites and land within 
the District.

Reasons
To promote a co-ordinated approach to positive intervention on those sites 
which have a major detrimental effect upon the character, appearance and 
well-being of the communities within which they are set.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) the content of the report and the actions taken to date be noted;

2) Members consider the sites (Appendix A); agree to a prioritised list and 
agree future actions where appropriate

3) the proposed Performance Framework be agreed;

4) the facility to report unsightly sites on the website, under the ‘report it’ 
button be added.

5) Officers explore what action can be taken on untidy sites where planning 
permission has been granted but the development has not yet been 
completed.  

79/17 LOCALLY ADMINISTERED BUSINESS RATES RELIEF SCHEME 

The Executive Director for Commercialisation presented the highlights of the 
report to Members.

Options
The Government have made it clear that funding for this discretionary relief is 
to be used to help those facing the steepest increases as a result of the 
revaluation.

In accordance with legislation relief cannot be granted to precepting 
authorities.

The suggested discretionary relief guidelines from 1 April 2017, detailed in 
Appendix 1 sets out the criteria to be taken into consideration in deciding 
whether relief should be given, the procedure for applications and an appeals 
process where there has been a refusal to grant relief.

As limited funding is available the Council has modelled the cost of allowing 
relief broadly in line with The Governments approach with two options:-

1) The Rateable Value of the property is less than £200,000 and the 
increase is capped at 12.5%

2) The Rateable Value of the property is less than £200,000 and the 
increase is capped at 11% with relief being restricted to local businesses.

The recipients of this discretionary award will be businesses facing the 
steepest increases in their business rates bills as a result of the 2017 

Action By

13



Cabinet
10 July 2017

10

Business rates Revaluation.  

The cost of allowing relief can only be modelled on a yearly basis and 
therefore Cabinet is also requested to delegate the power to set the % 
increase and rateable value cap each year to the Section 151 Officer.

Reasons

The introduction of these guidelines has sought to provide more information 
and clarity concerning the organisations that will benefit and the criteria used 
to determine relief. They also ensure that only those businesses with a 
rateable value under £200,000 impacted by the revaluation, receive relief.

By restricting relief to local businesses the Council can afford to provide relief 
to those who have had increases of more than 11%.  Also it will leave a 
contingency of approximately £28K in the fund whilst allowing us to help more 
businesses.

As the amount of funding reduces each year the Section 151 Officer can 
adjust the amount of relief according to the funding available.

It was RESOLVED that Cabinet RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL:
1)  that the guidelines to award relief to local businesses with a rateable 

value under £200,000 and an increase resulting from the 2017 
revaluation above 11% be approved.

2) the Section 151 Officer in conjunction with the Leader is given delegated 
power to finalise the scheme and to determine the Rateable value cap 
and percentage each year.

80/17 MARKET TOWN INITIATIVE - GRANT RE-ALLOCATION 

The Executive Member for Place presented the report explaining that this 
could be one of the most important pieces of work the Council undertakes.

The Executive Director for Place added that in January 2017, Cabinet 
resolved to spend the final retained funding of Resource4Growth to support 
the market towns through a Market Town initiative, following consultation with 
the Town Councils on proposals to increase the footfall and attractiveness of 
the towns.

The report proposed the further development of the Market Town initiative by 
taking a strategic lead and work with the democratic representatives across 
the district’s five market towns; together with key stakeholders that can help 
support change and development.

Councillor Cowen felt that it was a combined initiative between the Breckland 
District Council and the Town Council and added that the inward investment 
service area should also be integrated into the project.

Councillor Robinson was encouraged by the report by working in partnership 
with the Towns and the Local Enterprise Partnership and looking strategically 
in what communities needed as a whole.

Councillor Bambridge added that as a Ward Member he wanted input to 

Action By

14



Cabinet
10 July 2017

11

represent the local villages surrounding the Towns.  The Executive Director 
for Place confirmed that the project would also incorporate the hinterland 
surrounding the Towns.

The Chairman was pleased to see this project and added that it was also 
being considered at a County Council level.

Options
1) That Cabinet support the further development of the Breckland Market 

Town Initiative Programme;

2) That Cabinet recommend to Council that the Pride in Breckland 
programme is concluded and that the residual funding held in reserve 
for this programme is reallocated to the Market Town Initiative.

Reasons
Our high streets and town centres are facing serious challenges from out-of-
town shopping centres and the growth of online and mobile retailing.  Our 
market towns and high streets need to be vibrant places with a strong 
economy and offer something that neither shopping centres nor the internet 
can match.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) the further development of the Breckland Market Town Initiative 

Programme be supported; and,

2) RECOMMEND TO FULL COUNCIL that the Pride in Breckland 
programme is concluded and that the residual funding held in reserve 
for this programme is reallocated to the Market Town Initiative.

81/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangments for the next meeting on 5 September at 9.30am in the 
Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham were noted.

82/17 EXCLUSION FROM PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

 (a) Breckland Training Services - Next Steps and Options  

The Executive Member for Finance presented the report to Members who 
were asked to consider the next steps and options in relation to the future 
of Breckland training Services.

It was RESOLVED to RECOMMEND the report to FULL COUNCIL.

The meeting closed at 11.20 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

15



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Place, Paul Claussen

To: Cabinet, Tuesday 5th September 2017

Author: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, Norfolk Community Foundation

Subject: Match Funding (large) application 

Purpose: To consider the decision to award funding to Carbrooke Village Hall

Recommendation:

1) That the Executive Member for Place approves the following grant award:
 £14,400 (or 30% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to 

Carbrooke Village Hall to carry out renovations to the kitchen and toilets.

BACKGROUND – Carbrooke Village Hall

1.1 Carbrooke Village Hall is seeking a grant of £14,400 to contribute towards the cost 
of renovating the kitchen and toilet areas of the building. 

1.2 The village hall has a range of issues including problems with dampness and 
resultant mould growth due to water penetration through the kitchen and toilet walls 
which is causing plaster to fall off, not currently having hot water in the toilets and 
difficulties with disabled access. The application comments that those with 
disabilities have no realistic prospect of using the toilets at present and are therefore 
to all intents and purposes excluded from using the hall.

1.3 The building work will involve stripping out all of the kitchen and toilet fittings, 
removing the external render from the kitchen and toilet areas, external re-rendering 
and repainting and insulating and plaster boarding the internal surface of the walls. 
New kitchen and toilet fittings will be installed along with modifications to electrics 
and plumbing as necessary. The plan also involves moving the kitchen to the front 
of the hall into the space now used as the committee room. The space currently 
occupied by the kitchen will become the ladies toilets and the former ladies toilets 
will be made into a disabled toilet incorporating baby changing facilities. New doors 
and external works will improve access for disabled people and those with restricted 
mobility. 

1.4 The village hall committee has consulted with all village hall user groups and the 
wider community and there is said to be unanimous approval for the renovation 
project. The hall is currently used by groups including a pre-school group, a weekly 
coffee morning, a dance club, a kickboxing club, a weekly bar and a history club. 
Current user numbers are estimated at around 100 per week. The hall committee 
expect that with improved facilities use of the hall will grow and there have already 
been suggestions of starting a mother and toddler group, a lunch club for the elderly 
and a Women’s Institute group. The main contact commented that current state of 
the kitchen and toilet facilities is deterring potential user groups. The committee 
estimate that usage could grow to 350 following the renovations.

1.5 The hall committee has provided copies of quotations/estimates from three 
contractors which range in price from £37,000 to £50,000. While all the contractors 

16

Agenda Item 7



have visited the hall and worked off a plan and specification, the village hall 
committee has acknowledged that the facilities to be renovated are in extremely 
poor condition and more work might be revealed when building work is underway 
and floors and walls are stripped down. As a result they have felt it prudent to build 
in a 20 per cent contingency figure to the second of the three quotes when 
assessing what budget is needed. This gives a figure of £48,000. The committee is 
confident that the work can be zero-rated for VAT. Both the chair and the caretaker 
of the hall are involved in a business that carries out a lot of property renovation 
work and so there should be effective control of the project and the costs.
 

1.6 The village hall has already raised £20,357 towards the cost including £15,057 from 
community events and fundraising, £2,800 from Carbrooke Parish Council and a 
£2,500 donation from a local resident. The charity is also guaranteed a minimum of 
£2,000 from the Tesco’s Bags of Help scheme and other funding applications to the 
Trusthouse Charitable Foundation and The Bernard Sunley Charitable Foundation 
are in progress.

1.7 This is a strong application in terms of the need for improvements and the potential 
for the renovated hall to increase usage and better serve the community. Other 
aspects of the hall such as the roof, windows and heating are in good or reasonable 
condition and the planned work is an appropriate and achievable level of renovation. 
The only relative weakness is the uncertainty about the costs and the inclusion of a 
contingency allowance of £8,000. The age and structure of the building mean that 
there are some uncertainties about what the contractor will find once work begins 
and this was the committee representatives’ rationale for the contingency. The 
committee understand that any grant from Breckland Council would reduce if the 
project costs less than the budgeted £48,000 and that the grant would need to be 
paid on receipt of invoices. The grant award would also be subject to the other 
necessary funding being secured.

2) OPTIONS

2.1 Fully fund the application set out in the report
2.2 Part fund the application set out in the report
2.3 Do nothing

3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

4) EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 Provide a venue that has facilities that are fit for purpose for a range of social and 
recreational activities for residents of all ages. 
Increase the number of user groups and the overall number of users.
 

5) IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there 
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified 

17



below.

5.1 Financial

5.1.1 The Match Funding reserves held by Norfolk Community Foundation have a current 
balance of £93,990. With two applications recommended for a total of £8,177 from 
an earlier round of funding awaiting decisions (Gressenhall Parish Council and 
Thetford Rugby Football Club). In addition there are five small match funding 
applications requesting £14,679 being considered at the July Informal Executive 
Briefing plus a further large match funding application from the Wayland Partnership 
requesting £19,972.60. There are therefore sufficient funds to meet the grant 
expenditure of £14,679 proposed in this report.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The project aligns with the Breckland Council objectives of: ‘supporting groups and 
organisations to provide a range of local facilities which improve learning 
opportunities, community health and community wellbeing’ and ‘supporting older 
people to remain active, participate and live independently within the community.’ 
Carbrooke village hall is the only community centre in a parish that has seen 
considerable growth. The estate of Blenheim Grange in the south of the parish has 
seen more than 500 houses built in a decade but without any community meeting 
space being provided. In addition to existing activities, the Village Hall Committee is 
confident that there is great demand for other clubs to bring the community together 
and for shorter courses, such as internet training and craft workshops.  The elderly 
in parish are described as being isolated. Because of the state of the toilets, the 
village hall is currently only able to offer limited activities for older people. Improving 
facilities and access will enable the offer to older people to be enhanced. 

5.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1 Breckland Councillor Theresa Hewett has written in support of the project. She 
comments that she wholeheartedly supports for the plan to renovate Carbrooke 
Village Hall, “the toilets and kitchen are in a very poor state and very unpleasant to 
use.  As a result, it is extremely difficult for the community to utilise this important 
facility and to maximise its potential. In addition, there are currently no facilities for 
disabled members of the community, and the grant would allow this to be rectified. 
The parish of Carbrooke has seen significant development over the past decade 
and the large influx of people has led to a range of issues within the community 
which residents are seeking to address through a variety of projects and activities.  
Carbrooke Village Hall is a vital centre for activities and events as it is the one place 
in the parish where the community can meet and relations be built.  Regular coffee 
mornings are held there, which I have attended, and there is great interest among 
the residents of the village in starting up craft clubs, a weekly café and a W.I. to add 
to the thriving nursery which uses the hall regularly. However, the current facilities 
limit these ambitions and therefore work against the community’s efforts to build 
cohesion.”

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1 Saham Toney ward/Carbrooke. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

18



7.1 NCF – Norfolk Community Foundation

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, 
Norfolk Community Foundation
Telephone Number: 01603 623958
Email: cliverayner@norfolkfoundation.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – Grant Application

19



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 1 13

Surname
Buscall

Forename(s)
Ed

Title
Mr 

Breckland Community Funding Application
Form

Section 1 - About the organisation applying

Organisation name and address details

Name of the organisation applying
Carbrooke Village Hall

Address of your organisation

Street
Church Street

Town/City
Carbrooke

County
Norfolk

Postcode
IP25 6SW

Website
www.carbrookevillagehall.co.uk

Telephone
01953 883577

Email address
info@carbrookevillagehall.co.uk

Main Contact Person
These are the details that will be used for correspondence purposes.

Position in organisation

20



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 2 13

Other

Community interest company

Unincorporated club or association

Company limited by guarantees

303923A registered charity

Year
1960 

Month
04 

Chair

Daytime Phone
01953 883577

Home Phone

Mobile Phone
07717348385

Email
ed.buscall@gmail.com

Use organisation's address for correspondence

Organisation Start Date
Please estimate if exact date is not known - please select earliest date if your organisation predates
the options given.

What type of organisation are you?
Please select as many as appropriate. For companies, CICs and Social Enterprises, please note your
constitution/ articles should show a clear social purpose, and information about how you distribute
profit to fulfil these aims.

Purpose of organisation

Please briefly describe the overall aims and objectives of your organisation and the activities or services

your organisation provides

It is the only community centre in the parish providing a range of activities and services
for young and old. Examples of these include a pre-school playgroup, weekly coffee
morning, weekly dance club, weekly kickboxing, a weekly bar and a meeting place for
the parish council and other local groups such as the history club. It is also used for
parties and for receptions for weddings and funerals held at the local church.

21



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 3 13

10
Volunteers (excluding management

committee)

2
Part time staff / workersFull time staff / workers

Staffing and volunteers
How many of each of the following are involved in the organisation?

Management committee
5

Members (excluding management committee)

Income of your organisation

Total income in the most recent accounting year
9291

What are your organisation's current unrestricted reserves?
15057

Banking details
Please provide details of the organisation's bank account

Bank account name
Carbrooke Coronation Hall

Bank account number
10238236

Bank sort code
20-28-20

How many signatures are required to authorise payments from the organisation's account?
2

Names of signatories, and their roles in the organisation

Ed Buscall, Chair
Debbie Muller, Deputy Chair

Second contact
Please provide details for a second contact who is willing to be contacted regarding this application if
the main contact cannot be reached.

Title
Mrs

Forename/s
Debbie

Surname
Muller

Position in organisation
Deputy Chair

Daytime phone

01953 883768 22



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 4 13

Project / funding end date
02/04/2018

Project / funding start date
02/01/2017

01953 883768

Email
deb@2upltd.co.uk

Section 2 - About the project

Which Fund are you applying to?
Tell us which Breckland Fund you are applying to (Match Funding Large grant, Match Funding Small
grant or Pride Funding) - please make sure you have read the guidance for the Fund you have chosen.

Match Funding Large Grant

Ownership and permissions
Please complete this section if you are applying for funds to carry out building or ground works,
including repairs and improvements, or installing permanent fixtures such as play equipment.

Does your organisation own the building/ land in question?

Yes

If NO, please tell us who owns the site, and how your organisation has responsibility for it - for example if

you hold a lease please tell us how long is remaining on the agreement

The site is owned by Carbrooke parish council, who are custodian trustees. The Village
Hall committee manage it on behalf of Carbrooke parish. The relationship is set out in
the governing document.

Does your project need any permissions to proceed? For example planning or change of use permissions, a

faculty or similar - if YES please provide details below and send evidence that this is in place along with your

completed application.

No permissions required.

Project Details

Project name
Carbrooke Village Hall Refurbishment Project

What area will your project benefit?
Breckland 

Which area (estate, town, village, borough) do most of the people who benefit come from?
Carbrooke

Please provide a postcode which best represents the geographical area you will benefit.
Ip25 6SW

What is the grant required for? Please describe your planned project/ activity.

23



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 5 13

The toilets and the kitchen at the Hall are old and not fit for purpose. There is also no
disabled toilet at the Hall. The outer wall of the toilets are permanently damp with plaster
breaking away and staining. They are very unpleasant to use and give the impression of
poor hygiene. Adjacent to the toilet is the kitchen which again is in a very poor state of
repair. There is now no running hot water and the room also suffers from the same
damp problem as the toilets. This has created problems for community access. Those
with disabilities have no realistic prospect of using them and are, to all intents and
purposes excluded from use of the hall. The facilities too make it very difficult for elderly
members of the community to use the hall as well as the very young and their mothers.
In consultation with a local pro bono architect and a builder we have a new layout for
part of the hall to provide a completely new set of male and female toilets, including a
much needed disabled toilet. We also plan to move the kitchen to a different area of the
building making it more accessible and to improve disability access through the main
entrance.

Who will benefit from this project and how?

This renovation project would enable us to move forward with the regeneration and
revitalising of this singular and essential community hub to provide a much needed
service for user groups of all abilities and interests throughout what is a largely poorly
served community and to breathe new life into the centre of the village.
We have had requests for a mother and toddler group, a lunch club for the elderly and a
W.I to use the Hall. However, there are no baby changing facilities, the W.I need hot
water and it is also very difficult for elderly members of the community to use the toilets.
As a result, all these projects have had to be put on hold until we manage to renovate.
Overall, Carbrooke has had a huge increase in its population over recent years but no
community infrastructure to go with it. A renovated hall would provide an important role
in bringing the community closer together and giving new groups the chance to prosper.

How do you know this project is needed, and that people want it?

We have consulted with all the user groups and a wide range of people have come to
our regular monthly meetings to express their desire to set up new groups but that they
feel this is difficult with our current facilities. We have held an extraordinary meeting to
raise awareness of the hall's predicament and to see whether people were enthusiastic
about a renovation project. There was unanimous approval to do so and people have
come to events there to help raise money.
We use social media and our website to ensure people are aware of what we are doing
and to encourage people to come forward.

If this is a large match funding application (over £5,000) please describe how your project will be financially

and environmentally sustainable and maintained in the future

The renovation will allow us to have more clubs and users and so raise extra income for
us. It will also make us a more attractive venue for hire. It will also secure the use of the
hall by our main use - the village pre-school group because, at present, they are having
to use temporary toilets because of the poor state of the hall's facility. Our finances are
sound and we are supported by the parish council. We do not believe our management
costs will increase because of this renovation but are confident that our revenue will.
The state of the toilets are in a very poor condition and we believe the renovation will
save on energy costs as the project includes insulation.

What, if any safety issues are related to your project or activity? If your project is working with children,

young people under the age of 18 or vulnerable adult, how will they be kept safe?

There will be building work and we are already talking to the pre-school playgroup about
the implications. We intend to schedule works during the holidays but timings will
depend on how quickly we are successful with our various funding bids. However, it
goes without saying that health and safety will be a key concern for us as we move
forward with this project.

Alignment with Breckland Council Objectives

Please explain how the project contributes towards the Breckland Council objectives you have identified

24



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 6 13

Support groups and organisations to provide a range of local facilities within their
communities which further improve learning opportunities, community health and
community wellbeing.

Carbrooke village hall is the only community centre in a parish that has seen rapid
growth in recent years. The estate of Blenheim Grange has seen more than 500 houses
developed in a decade and the parish now totals more than 900 homes. This large scale
development has caused problems within the parish particularly as there were no
additional facilities built to support the community. 
The village hall already offers a pre-school playgroup and we are trialling from
September a breakfast and after school club for those whose parents work. We also
offer kickboxing and there is a regular meeting of the local heritage group for its talks.
The hall will also play a central role in the Carbrooke Village Festival at the beginning of
July.
From evidence gathered from the village, the Village Hall Committee is confident that
there is great demand for other clubs to bring the community together and for shorter
courses, such as internet training and craft workshops. There is a real need for
community cohesion as Carbrooke is poorly served and the village hall provides the best
opportunity to do this.

Work with partners on supporting older people to remain active, participate and live
independently within the community

The elderly in parish are very isolated and feel that they have been forgotten particularly
with the large scale development at Blenheim Grange which caters mainly for young
families. Because of the state of the toilets, we offer very limited opportunities for them -
there is a small weekly dance club. Following consultations with the community, we
have recently started a weekly coffee morning which is very well attended although
those with mobility issues are as good as excluded from this because of the poor state
of the facilities. There have been a number of requests for a weekly lunch club and a
Women's Institute but again we are finding it difficult to establish because of the poor
kitchen and toilet facilities. Besides these clubs, we have also had requests for arts/craft
events and a community cinema. Again we feel that new facilities would allow us to take
up these opportunities.

Project Budget

How much money are you applying for?
14400

What is the total cost of the project?
48000

Have you already secured other funding for this project?
Yes 

If YES, how much has been raised so far?
20357

Please provide details of this other funding and/or details of applications to other grant schemes yet to be

confirmed

£15,057 raised for the renovation work from community events and fundraising. There is
an additional bank account that funds the day to day running of the hall.
We have just been awarded a grant of £2,800 from Carbrooke parish council for the
project and a local resident has just given us a donation of £2,500. Neither of these are
shown on the current bank statement but take our total to £20,357.
We have also been shortlisted for Tesco's Bag of Help scheme and will receive either
£1000, £2000 or £4000 depending on the number of counters we receive from
shoppers. We are currently in their Watton store and will know how large a grant we are
to receive by the end of June. Emails confirming the parish council and Tesco grants are
included with our application.
We are currently moving forward for bids with Trusthouse Charitable Foundation Village
Hall Capital Project Fund, the Bernard Sunley Charitable Foundation and Awards For
All.

25



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 7 13

BreakdownRequested amount
0
Total cost

BreakdownRequested amount
0
Total cost

BreakdownRequested amount
0
Total cost

BreakdownRequested amount
0
Total cost

Staff Costs - people who will be paid to help deliver your project

Volunteer Costs
For example, volunteer expenses and training

Operational/activity costs
For example, hiring a venue or providing transport for participants

Office, overhead, premises costs
For example, paying for utilities or a contribution to administration / management support

Capital costs
Things you will buy, for example materials or equipment, or cost of building works - please note
quotes/ estimates should be provided

26



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 8 13

BreakdownRequested amount

Total cost

BreakdownRequested amount
0
Total cost

Breakdown
We have three quotes for £37,000, £40,000 and £50,000 and these are enclosed as
attachments. The work will include building materials such as wood, stud partitions,
plaster boards as well as render and paint. There will be a range of sanitary ware for the
toilets and new plumbing to go with it. The electrics will have to be checked and there
will be some new installation. A new kitchen is being purchased too as well as a
radiator.
While all builders have visited the hall and worked off a plan and specification, the
Village Hall committee has acknowledged that the facilities to be renovated are in
extremely poor condition and more work might be revealed when building work is
underway and floors and walls are stripped down. As a result, we have decided to build
in a 20 per cent contingency figure to the second of the three quotes when assessing
what budget we might need. We are confident that the work can be zero-rated for VAT
as the Village Hall is a charity. Both the chair and the caretaker of the hall are involved
in a business that carries out a lot of property renovation work so we are confident that
the work at the Hall can be carried out efficiently and successfully.

Requested amount
14400
Total cost
48000

Publicity costs
Costs of promoting your project, for example printing leaflets or posters

Other costs
Please specify any costs that have not been included under any of the headings above

Section 3 - Impact: How your project will make a difference

Select a category from the drop down list below that best describes the impact that your project will have (the

difference it will make).
Maximise ability to strengthen community cohesion and build social capacity 

Select the primary outcome for your project or activity - you may choose up to 3 if you wish using the boxes below
Improve community cohesion 

Beneficiaries

How many people will benefit from this funding?

27



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 9 13

350

Please tell us how you have estimated this figure - for example, it may be based on bookings, memberships,

audiences or visitors to date

We have a playgroup (35 people), a regular weekly coffee morning (20 people), weekly
kickboxing club (15 people), weekly dance club (10 people) a weekly bar (20 people).
From this, we estimate 100 people would benefit from improved facilities. However, all
these clubs say they would be able to improve numbers significantly if the facilities and
hall looked better so we believe at least another 50 people would benefit from these
clubs.
Besides these current clubs, there is demand for a WI and a lunch club for the elderly
.The head of the playgroup has identified a need for a mother and babies morning as
she says there is a high degree of isolation in the community. She is also seeking to
establish a breakfast club and after school club. There is also a demand for ta cinema
club and more craft clubs. Given this, we estimate conservatively that another 100
people could be brought into the hall.
The Hall is currently let for community events, whether 18ths, weddings or wakes after
funerals. Again, many people are put off by the venue's poor facilities. We estimate at
least another 100 people could be brought into the hall this way.

Primary Beneficiary - Select a single option to represent the primary beneficiary group for this grant
Local residents 

Please list any other beneficiary groups who will benefit from your grant

Black, Asian and minority ethnic Carers

Children and young people Ex-offenders/offenders/At risk of offending

Families/Parents/Lone parents Homeless people

Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgendered groups Long-term unemployed

Men Not in education, employment and training (NEET 16-24)

Older people People in care or suffering serious illness

People living in poverty People with alcohol/drug addictions

People with learning difficulties People with low skill levels

People with mental health issues People with multiple disabilities

People with physical difficulties Refugees/asylum seekers /immigrants

Victims of crime/violence/abuse Women

Ethnicity

Primary ethnic group - select a single option to represent the primary ethnic group for this grant
White British 

Please list any other ethnic groups who will benefit from your grant:

28



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 10 13

African All ethnicities

Any other Asian and Asian British

Asian and White Bangladeshi

Black African and White Black Caribbean and White

Black and Black British Caribbean

Chinese Chinese or other group

Indian Mixed

Other Asian Other Black

Other Mixed Ethnicity Other White

Pakistani White

White East European White Gypsies and Travellers

White Irish

Issues

Primary issue - select a single option to represent the primary issue that will be addressed by this grant
Stronger communities/Community support and development  

Please list any other issues that will be addressed by this grant

29



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 11 13

Anti-social behaviour Arts, culture and heritage

Bullying Caring responsibilities

Counselling/Advice/Mentoring Crime and safety

Disability and access issues Domestic violence

Economy Education, learning and training

Emergency/Rescue services Employment and labour

Environment and improving surroundings Financial exclusion and financial illiteracy

Gangs Harmful practice

Health, wellbeing and serious illness Homelessness

Housing IT / Technology

Language, culture and racial integration Mental health

Offending/At risk of offending Poverty and disadvantage

Refugees/Asylum/Immigration Religion

Renewable energies and recycling Rural issues

Sexual abuse Social inclusion and fairness

Sport and recreation Stigma/Discrimination

Substance abuse and addiction Supporting family life

Violence and Exploitation

Age Groups

Please indicate the primary age group that will benefit from this grant
All ages 

Please list any other applicable age groups for your grant.

Adults (26-65) Children (5-12)

Early years (0-4) Seniors (65+)

Young adults (19-25) Young people (13-18)

Section 4 - Supporting information and Declaration

Supporting Documents
To complete your application, you are required to submit supporting information that provides evidence of
how your organisation is set up, and details of your project. 
Along with your online application we also require you to submit copies of the following:

30



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 12 13

1.  

2.  

A copy of your constitution of governing document

A copy of your most recent annual accounts (or current financial statement if your organisation has been
operating for less than 1 year)

A copy of a recent bank statement

Evidence that you have consulted with the community

Evidence of match funding

A copy of relevant safeguarding policies if your project involves work with children or vulnerable adults

Copies of quotes, estimates or other evidence of costs if applying for funds to pay for equipment, building
works, services or similar (preferably three for each service/product)

For projects involving building works or installations of e.g. of sports/play equipment - evidence that planning
permission/ other relevant permissions are in place or that they are not required

A location map (for projects involving building works or installations of e.g. of sports/play equipment

A business plan (for projects with a total cost of over £50,000)

A copy of your equal opportunities policy/statement

Evidence of support from your Breckland Council ward member - they can send this direct to Norfolk
Community Foundation.

If you have electronic copies available, these documents can be uploaded by following the 'Add Document'
link below which will guide you to the Attachments upload function at the end of this form.  Please then
upload the documents as prompted.
 
If you prefer to send some or all of these documents separately by post or email, please check the box below,
and ensure that all the information required is submitted to Norfolk Community Foundation clearly stating the
name of the organisation and the Fund you are applying for.
 
If you do not have all of the documents listed above, or are able to provide a link to view some of your
evidence online, please provide details in the box below.
 
If you have provided documents such as the constitution and policies to Norfolk Community Foundation with
previous applications and no changes have been made, there is no need to provide further copies - where
this is the case please also note in the box below.  Please note this only applies to documents that are not
updated regularly.
 
If you have any questions about the supporting information required, please contact the Grants Team on
01603 623958 or email grants@norfolkfoundation.com

Documents to follow in post to Norfolk Community Foundation, St James Mill, Whitefriars, Norwich NR3 1TN or by

email to grants@norfolkfoundation.com

Yes

Add document

You can use this space to provide links to items you wish to purchase with your grant, or to enable us to

view documents online. Also tell us if you believe we hold current copies of your organisation's constitution

and policies.

Carbrooke Village Hall location map:
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Carbrooke+Village+Hall/@52.5823234,0.8756249,15z/data=!4m5!3m4!1s0x0:0xfcfdf4869ad565d!8m2!3d52.5823234!4d0.8756249

Declaration
Please enter your name and position below to confirm that you accept the following conditions: 

I am authorised to make the application on behalf of the above organisation.

I certify that the information in this application is correct.

31



Fri May 12 09:22:13 GMT 2017Application: OGA091794

  Page  of 13 13

3.  

4.  

5.  

If the information in the application changes in any way I will inform Norfolk Community Foundation
immediately.

I give permission for Norfolk Community Foundation to record the information in this form electronically and
to contact my organisation by phone, mail or email with information about its activities and about funding
opportunities.

I agree to participate in monitoring, auditing and evaluation related to these funds - you can find out more
about how Norfolk Community Foundation monitors grants at 
www.norfolkfoundation.com/apply/funding-for-non-profits/monitoring/

Norfolk Community Foundation would like to follow up on successful applicants and potentially feature them in our
publicity. Please tick this box to confirm that, if your application is successful, you are willing to take part in publicity
activities.

Yes

Declaration - Please enter your name
E.Buscall

Position in organisation
Chair

32

http://www.norfolkfoundation.com/apply/funding-for-non-profits/monitoring/


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Place, Paul Claussen

To: Cabinet, Tuesday 5th September 2017

Author: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, Norfolk Community Foundation

Subject: Match Funding (large) application 

Purpose: To consider the decision to award funding to The Wayland 
Partnership Development Trust

Recommendation:

1) That the Executive Member for Place approves the following grant award:
 £19,972.60 (or 20.8% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to 

The Wayland Partnership Development Trust for a new project called Wayland 
Community of Culture.

BACKGROUND – The Wayland Partnership Development Trust

1.1 The Wayland Partnership aims to promote the economic, social, cultural and 
environmental well-being of the Wayland area (the market town of Watton and 13 
village parishes). It is seeking funding for a new project called ‘Wayland Community 
of Culture’ which aims to develop quality new activities and products exploring the 
local heritage, food, environment and culture of Wayland. The overall aim is to 
generate new visitors to the area, extend the tourism season and encourage visitors 
to stay longer whilst supporting existing activities to grow and flourish thus 
strengthening the local community as well as the cultural/tourism sector and the 
wider economy. 

1.2 The application presents a clear plan for the development of the project. Key steps 
include the establishment of a steering group linking key local businesses and 
organisations with an interest in tourism and the local economy; developing a strong 
brand identity for Wayland; co-ordinating a year of activity to put the spotlight on 
Wayland and show what it offers; setting up two new festivals to extend the tourist 
season - one linked to heritage/culture/food (October), the other a Walking & 
Cycling festival (March); supporting existing events (the Wayland Show, Wayland 
Festival, Watton Carnival, Christmas Market, and Fireworks as well as smaller 
parish events) to maximise opportunities through training, recruiting volunteers, co-
ordinated advertising, networking and offering new activities; improving online 
marketing presence with an e-newsletter, online booking system and a video; 
setting up a Food & Drink competition to establish new Wayland products; designing 
a Wayland marque highlighting quality of service, local distinctiveness or community 
commitment. These activities will address a number of problems and opportunities 
for the Wayland area by using tourism as a tool to regenerate a deprived rural area 
and declining market town. The project will explore under-developed local unique 
selling points such as local history, the Babes in the Wood legend, and the special 
local environment within the Brecks, to boost tourism and foster a new sense of 
pride in the community.

1.3 The project was identified during a five month consultation phase in 2016 with 18 
partner organisations as part of a process to develop a 10 year Wayland action 

33



plan. Out of a portfolio of projects put forward, the need to develop a project 
focusing on tourism was considered to be the top priority due to its cross-cutting 
ability to have an impact on the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the 
Wayland community. Consultation has also taken place with a number of additional 
key stakeholders to gauge need and support. This included a Tourism Conference 
in October 2016. The Conference was attended by 17 businesses as well as a 
number of support agencies who spent the day discussing the needs of the local 
area and co-producing project ideas which have been built into this bid. Community 
consultation has also established residents’ views of Wayland as a place to live, 
work and visit. This consultation identified that 38% of respondents felt that the 
Wayland area had got worse in the last 3 years. The application comments that 
“there is a general feeling of decline in the town, a corresponding lack of pride and 
the sense that Watton and Wayland is forgotten”.

1.4 The project has potential to directly benefit businesses working in sectors such as 
marketing, catering or event management. It has potential to have an indirect benefit 
on a number of other business types such as accommodation providers, retailers 
and food outlets through increased footfall. New opportunities will be provided to 
undertake training to improve marketing and customer service - areas that are very 
important for small businesses. Opportunities will be provided to develop new 
products, i.e. local food and to recognise existing quality of product or service. 
Residents and visitors will benefit from new social activities, cultural events and 
enhanced existing events. It is hoped that this will increase community spirit and 
integration leading to increased pride in the community. Residents will also have 
opportunities to get active in the local environment improving mental and physical 
health and wellbeing. The project will provide opportunities for people to volunteer 
and access training to increase skills and confidence to enable career and personal 
development. The Wayland Partnership will also benefit from increased income 
through the introduction of an online booking system for events and workshops; the 
development of new products which can be sold through its Tourist Information 
Centre/Community Gallery and by increased awareness of the organisation in the 
community. 

1.5 The project will initially run over two years with total costs of £96,189 (year 1 
£44,646 and year 2 £51,543). It is hoped that the largest element of the funding 
package (£65,552) will come from the LEADER programme. As part of the 
application process for LEADER the applicant needs to be able to demonstrate that 
at least 20% match funding is in place. Consequently the Breckland Council Match 
funding application would need to be agreed before the other funding can be 
secured. Any grant awarded by Breckland Council would be conditional on the 
success of the LEADER application. A grant from Breckland Council at the 
requested level would provide 20.76% of the project cost over the whole life of the 
project. The Partnership additionally has confirmed funding of £1,000 from Wayland 
Chamber of Commerce and £1,234 from its own reserves. It is anticipating funding 
of £3,000 from Watton Town Council and expects to generate income of £4,430 
during the course of the project. It therefore aims to demonstrate to LEADER that it 
can secure a 32% contribution. The Breckland grant would be fully spent during the 
first year of the project.
 

1.6 The project would be overseen by a Steering Group of interested organisations, and 
day to day management would be by the Partnership’s Development Manager. A 
new part time (18 hours per week) Project Officer post would be created to work on 
the project and a freelance Communication Officer post would also be appointed. 

1.7 The project is developing a sound methodology for assessing its impact including 

34



collecting baseline data regarding High Street footfall, the number of visitors to the 
Tourist Information Centre and a survey of tourism businesses that offer 
accommodation.

2) OPTIONS

2.1 Fully fund the application set out in the report
2.2 Part fund the application set out in the report
2.3 Do nothing

3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

4) EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1  Improved sustainability of the Wayland Partnership. 
 20 businesses will benefit directly through the supply chain.
 20 businesses will benefit from training provision in marketing and customer 

service.
 50 businesses will benefit indirectly through increased number of visitors and 

shoppers. 
 Increase in the number of day visitors and overnight stays in the area.
 20 volunteers will benefit from training provision in customer service. 
 20 volunteers will gain increased skills and/or confidence.
 

5) IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there 
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified 
below.

5.1 Financial

5.1.1 The Match Funding reserves held by Norfolk Community Foundation have a current 
balance of £93,990. With two applications recommended for a total of £8,177 from 
an earlier round of funding awaiting decisions (Gressenhall Parish Council and 
Thetford Rugby Football Club). In addition there are five small match funding 
applications requesting £14,679 being considered at the July Informal Executive 
Briefing plus a further large match funding application from Carbrooke Village Hall 
requesting £14,400. There are therefore sufficient funds to meet the grant 
expenditure of £14,679 proposed in this report.  

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The project aligns closely with the following Breckland objectives: 1) Support market 
towns to be attractive to new businesses and visitors to the area, whilst meeting the 

35



needs of rural communities and businesses; and 2) Grow and encourage local 
opportunities and activities for business in the district. 
The application states that Watton has seen a steady decline in recent years, with 
an increase in empty shop units, a decline in footfall, low business confidence and 
engagement, a poor standard of premises and mixture of retail offer, and an 
increase in litter and anti-social behaviour. The project aims to encourage greater 
awareness of and enthusiasm for, what the area has to offer for residents, day 
visitors, tourists and businesses. Businesses will be involved in the delivery of the 
project in areas such as marketing, catering or event management. There will also 
be opportunities for local creative businesses to get involved in delivering arts, crafts 
or music activities. Businesses will also benefit from the provision of Welcome Host 
training to ensure that new visitors to the area receive a great welcome increasing 
the likelihood of them returning. The project will have an indirect benefit on business 
types such as accommodation providers, retailers, food outlets. It is also felt that a 
vibrant, active community can be a positive factor in encouraging new businesses to 
locate to the area. The business plan accompanying the application includes some 
specific outputs including a target of 20 businesses benefiting directly through the 
supply chain and through training provision and 50 businesses benefiting indirectly 
through increased footfall. Overall this appears to be a project attempting a strategic 
response to identified issues in the Watton and Wayland area.

5.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1 Breckland member Claire Bowes has commented that: “The Wayland Partnership is 
at the hub of the community in Watton and the Wayland villages and has the 
expertise, local knowledge and communication facilities needed to deliver/facilitate 
this project. The project will benefit the local community by providing a programme 
of festival and events across the Wayland area leading to increased engagement 
and education of residents around the historic, cultural, and environmental 
characteristics of the area.  By promoting these aspects and working with local 
businesses the project will reach out to tourists and the tourism industry to raise the 
profile of the Wayland area.”

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1 Watton and surrounding villages. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NCF – Norfolk Community Foundation

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, 
Norfolk Community Foundation
Telephone Number: 01603 623958
Email: cliverayner@norfolkfoundation.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

36



Appendix A – Grant Application

37



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 1 15

Surname
Rhind

Forename(s)
Suzanne

Title
Mrs 

Breckland Community Funding Application
Form

Section 1 - About the organisation applying

Organisation name and address details

Name of the organisation applying
The Wayland Partnership Development Trust

Address of your organisation

Street
Wayland House, High Street

Town/City
Watton

County
Norfolk

Postcode
IP25 6AR

Website
www.wayland.org.uk

Telephone
01953 883915

Email address
suzanne@wayland.org.uk

Main Contact Person
These are the details that will be used for correspondence purposes.

Position in organisation

38



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 2 15

Other

Community interest company

Unincorporated club or association

3869712Company limited by guarantees

1081310A registered charity

Year
1999 

Month
11 

Business & Community Development
Manager

Daytime Phone
01953 880204

Home Phone
01953 681205

Mobile Phone
07704 311068

Email
suzanne@wayland.org.uk

Use organisation's address for correspondence

Organisation Start Date
Please estimate if exact date is not known - please select earliest date if your organisation predates
the options given.

What type of organisation are you?
Please select as many as appropriate. For companies, CICs and Social Enterprises, please note your
constitution/ articles should show a clear social purpose, and information about how you distribute
profit to fulfil these aims.

Purpose of organisation

Please briefly describe the overall aims and objectives of your organisation and the activities or services

your organisation provides

39



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 3 15

50
Volunteers (excluding management

committee)

4
Part time staff / workers

0
Full time staff / workers

Our aim is to promote the economic, social, cultural and environmental well-being of the
Wayland area (the market town of Watton and 13 village parishes). We are based at
Wayland House in Watton: a one-stop-shop for information and support and which
includes offices for small businesses, a training room, a presence office which hosts a
range of services and an Art Gallery and Visitor Centre. We develop projects to meet
community needs and we work closely with a range of Community Partners including
the Wayland Academy and primary cluster, the Chamber of Commerce, the Sports
Centre and the Agricultural Society.

Staffing and volunteers
How many of each of the following are involved in the organisation?

Management committee
4

Members (excluding management committee)
15000

Income of your organisation

Total income in the most recent accounting year
115114

What are your organisation's current unrestricted reserves?
30000

Banking details
Please provide details of the organisation's bank account

Bank account name
The Wayland Partnership Development Trust

Bank account number
50718246

Bank sort code
20-28-20

How many signatures are required to authorise payments from the organisation's account?
2

Names of signatories, and their roles in the organisation

Mrs Jan Godfrey, Chair of Trustees
Mrs Bronwen Tyler, Trustee
Mr Roger Harrold, Trustee

Second contact
Please provide details for a second contact who is willing to be contacted regarding this application if
the main contact cannot be reached.

40



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 4 15

Project / funding end date
02/10/2018

Project / funding start date
02/10/2017

Title
Mrs

Forename/s
Jan

Surname
Godfrey

Position in organisation
Chair of Trustees

Daytime phone
01953 880202

Email
jan@wayland.org.uk

Section 2 - About the project

Which Fund are you applying to?
Tell us which Breckland Fund you are applying to (Match Funding Large grant, Match Funding Small
grant or Pride Funding) - please make sure you have read the guidance for the Fund you have chosen.

Match Funding Large Grant

Ownership and permissions
Please complete this section if you are applying for funds to carry out building or ground works,
including repairs and improvements, or installing permanent fixtures such as play equipment.

Does your organisation own the building/ land in question?

Yes

If NO, please tell us who owns the site, and how your organisation has responsibility for it - for example if

you hold a lease please tell us how long is remaining on the agreement

Does your project need any permissions to proceed? For example planning or change of use permissions, a

faculty or similar - if YES please provide details below and send evidence that this is in place along with your

completed application.

Project Details

Project name
Wayland Community of Culture

What area will your project benefit?
Breckland 

Which area (estate, town, village, borough) do most of the people who benefit come from?
Wayland - Watton and 13 surrounding parishes

41



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 5 15

Please provide a postcode which best represents the geographical area you will benefit.
IP25 6AR

What is the grant required for? Please describe your planned project/ activity.

The project aims to develop quality new activities and products exploring the local
heritage, food, environment and culture of Wayland to generate new visitors to the area,
extend the tourism season and encourage visitors to stay longer whilst supporting
existing activities to grow and flourish thus strengthening the local community as well as
the cultural/tourism sector and the wider economy. 
This will be achieved in the following way: 
1. Set up a steering group linking key local businesses and organisations with an
interest in tourism and the local economy;
2. Develop a strong brand identity for Wayland in the Brecks; 
3. Establish Wayland as a ‘Community of Culture’ by co-ordinating a year of activity to
put the spotlight on Wayland and what it offers to increase footfall in the town and
benefit the local economy; 
4. As a part of this set up 2 new festivals to extend the tourist season - one linked to
heritage/culture/food (October), the other a Walking & Cycling festival (March); 
5. Support existing events (the Wayland Show, Wayland Festival, Watton Carnival,
Christmas Market, and Fireworks as well as smaller parish events) to maximise
opportunities through training, recruiting volunteers, co-ordinated advertising, networking
and offering new activities; 
6. Improve our online marketing presence with e-newsletter, online booking system and
a video; 
7. Develop and enhance complementary craft workshop programme in Wayland
Dragonfly Gallery; 
8. Set up a Food & Drink competition to establish new Wayland products (Pingo
Pie/Wayland Wanger) to improve brand recognition; 
9. Offer Welcome Host business/community training to ensure new visitors receive a
great welcome and then return; 
10. Design a Wayland marque highlighting quality of service, local distinctiveness or
community commitment. 

These activities will address a number of problems and opportunities for the Wayland
area by using tourism as a tool to regenerate a deprived rural area and declining market
town. This project has been developed with partners to put Watton and Wayland ‘on the
map’ as a destination by building on our organisational track record, to explore
under-developed local USPs such as local history, the Babes in the Wood legend, and
our special local environment within the Brecks, to build on our geographical location
within Norfolk being within 1 hour of established tourism destinations, and to foster a
new sense of pride in the community following recent changes in local demographics.

Who will benefit from this project and how?

42



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 6 15

The aim of the project is to regenerate the Wayland area through tourism, which is
widely recognised as an agent of change. Tourism as a focus allows us to develop a
project that enhances the Wayland area as a place to visit, work or live. The benefits of
tourism cut across all sectors of the community as it has the power to unite different
cultures and different ages. This project will benefit different sections of the Wayland
community in the following ways:

Businesses
a. The project will have a direct effect on businesses that get involved in areas such as
marketing, catering or event management.
b. It will have an indirect benefit on a number of other business types such as
accommodation providers, retailers and food outlets that will see an increase in the
number of customers due to increased footfall in the town centre and new visitors to the
area. 
c. New opportunities will be provided to undertake training to improve marketing and
customer service, areas that are very important for small businesses.
d. Opportunities to develop new products, i.e. local food and to recognise existing quality
of product or service
e. A vibrant, active community can be a positive factor in encouraging new businesses
to locate to the area. 

Residents
a. By establishing new cultural events and supporting existing events to flourish we will
improve wellbeing by encouraging the community to come together increasing
community spirit and integration. 
b. The project will ensure a better understanding of Wayland culture and heritage
leading to increased pride in the community. 
c. There will be increased opportunities for affordable, local social activities and greater
opportunities to get active in the local environment improving mental and physical health
and wellbeing. 
d. There will also be opportunities for people to volunteer in the project and access
training to increase skills and confidence to enable career and personal development. 

Voluntary & Community Sector
a. The project will support the sustainability of the Wayland Partnership which runs a
multi-purpose community building. This hosts a gallery, Tourist Information Centre, and
drop-in offering community advice and business support, enabling us to do more to
support the wellbeing of our community now and in the future.
b. By supporting established organisations/events through training, marketing etc. we
can help sustain the vital role that volunteers play in providing social, cultural, and
tourism activities for residents and visitors in Wayland.

How do you know this project is needed, and that people want it?

43



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 7 15

The project was identified during a five month consultation phase in 2016 with our 18
partner organisations to develop a 10 year action plan for the Wayland area. Out of a
portfolio of projects put forward, the need to develop a project focusing on tourism was
considered to be the top priority due to its cross-cutting ability to have an impact on the
economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the Wayland community. 

We have also consulted with a number of additional key stakeholders to gauge need
and support. This included a Tourism Conference which we held in October 2016. The
Conference was attended by 17 businesses as well as a number of support agencies
who spent the day discussing the needs of the local area and co-producing project ideas
which we have built into this bid. 

During consultation with the community in 2016, 46% of respondents rated Wayland as
poor to OK as a place to work (29% good to excellent), 56% rated Wayland as poor to
OK to visit (42% good to excellent) and 58% rated it as poor or OK to socialise (36%
good to excellent). 38% of respondents felt that the Wayland area had got worse in the
last 3 years, with 32% saying it had stayed the same and 19% saying it had improved.
These statistics highlight the feelings of local people, which are reflected in comments
received at our office and with partners. There is a general feeling of decline in the town,
a corresponding lack of pride and the sense that Watton and Wayland is forgotten. 

Watton town centre has been experiencing a steady decline in recent years, resulting in
an increase in the number of empty shop units including very recently the loss of a
Budgens in a significant site in the town centre, a poor quality town centre environment
with degrading shopfronts, untidy public spaces, lack of information, and declining
footfall. In contrast we have seen an increase and diversification in the population. Also,
Watton has moved into the most deprived quintile nationally for overall Indices of
Multiple Deprivation.

The importance of thriving market towns is acknowledged in the Breckland Council
Corporate Plan 2015-19 and the role of tourism as a driver in our economy is
acknowledged in a number of strategies including the Brecks Local Development
Strategy, the Norfolk Rural Development Strategy 2013-20 and the New Anglia Strategic
Economic Plan.

If this is a large match funding application (over £5,000) please describe how your project will be financially

and environmentally sustainable and maintained in the future

There are a number of ways in which this project tackles financial and environmental
sustainability:

1. The project will generate an income from events and workshops
2. The Tourism Manager will be responsible for engaging, training and supporting
volunteers to build a legacy that will enable some of the activity to be continued by
members of the community at the end of the project. This approach has worked well
with previous partnership projects, where we facilitate the setting up of groups and then
work with them for a period of time before setting them up independently, for example
Wayland Women in Business, Wayland Dementia Café and Wayland Men’s Shed
3. The project will raise awareness of the Partnership and the services it offers leading
to an increase in sales of products and room hire
4. The project will provide improved payment infrastructure for the Partnership by
offering online and card payments which we are currently unable to accept, allowing us
to increase turnover 
5. This project aims to increase awareness of our special local environment through
improving knowledge of the local landscape and how to access it and will work with key
partners to ensure that this is done in an environmentally sensitive manner. 
6. The project will provide more opportunities for residents to undertake leisure activities
closer to home thus reducing the need to travel. It will encourage sustainable modes of
transport such as cycling and walking.

Through these provisions the Partnership will be able to maintain income levels to
continue to support a Tourism Manager who will be responsible for continuing to
develop new income streams to sustain the post and its work.

What, if any safety issues are related to your project or activity? If your project is working with children,

young people under the age of 18 or vulnerable adult, how will they be kept safe?

44



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 8 15

There will be a number of safety issues that will need to be considered in relation to the
hosting of events, activities and workshops. It is difficult to say exactly what these will be
until the events are planned, however the Wayland Partnership is experienced at
organising events of all sizes for the whole community and holds appropriate insurance.
We will also be working with other organisations in the community who have experience
of such activities such as Watton Town Council. Risk assessments will be prepared for
all activities. We have suitable policies and procedures in place. If activities are solely for
young people under the age of 18 then consent forms will be provided for parents and
guardians to complete. Training will be given to all volunteers involved with the project.

Alignment with Breckland Council Objectives

Please explain how the project contributes towards the Breckland Council objectives you have identified

Support market towns in the district to be attractive to new businesses and visitors to the
area, whilst meeting the needs of rural communities and businesses:

One of the principle aims of the Wayland Partnership is to develop and support the
market town of Watton and its rural hinterland. This project was chosen as the first major
project from the Partnership’s new five year Action Plan because it uses tourism and
culture as a tool to regenerate Watton, putting this in alignment with Breckland Council’s
own objective to support market towns. 

Watton has seen a steady decline in recent years, with an increase in empty shop units,
including the loss of a major supermarket in a prime town centre location, a decline in
footfall, low business confidence and engagement, a poor standard of premises and
mixture of retail offer, and an increase in litter and anti-social behaviour. Alongside this
we have seen an increase in housing development and a growing diversity in population
demographics. This has all led to a feeling of deprivation and decline and a lack of a
sense of pride in the town. 

By creating a focus on the culture and environment of the Wayland area through the
introduction of two new festivals and support for existing events and activities the aim is
to encourage greater awareness of and enthusiasm for, what the area has to offer for
residents, day visitors, tourists and businesses alike. This will lead to more visitors to the
area, using local businesses whilst they are here and therefore benefiting the local
economy. It will also foster a greater sense of pride in the community as the project will
provide opportunities for people and communities to come together, to learn about the
local history, and to better appreciate the local environment. The project will also provide
support for existing groups, allowing them to access new skills and ensure greater
sustainability in the future, building the capacity of the local community to provide high
quality events and activities for both residents and visitors.

45



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 9 15

Grow and encourage local opportunities and activities for business in the district:

The primary aim of the project is to regenerate the Wayland area through tourism,
therefore by its very nature this project will grow and support local businesses. We have
incorporated a number of elements that will directly and indirectly benefit Wayland
businesses. These activities will address a number of problems and opportunities for the
area.This project has been developed with partners to put Wayland ‘on the map’ as a
destination by building on our organisational track record, to explore under-developed
local USPs such as local history, the Babes in the Wood legend, and our special
environment within the Brecks, to build on our geographical location within Norfolk being
within 1 hour of established tourism destinations, and to foster a new sense of pride in
the community following recent changes in local demographics.

Wayland Community of Culture will have a direct effect on local businesses that get
involved in the delivery of the project in areas such as marketing, catering or event
management. There will also be opportunities for local creative businesses to get
involved in delivering arts, crafts or music activities. Businesses will also benefit from the
provision of Welcome Host training to ensure that new visitors to the area receive a
great welcome and then importantly, return. A further key part of the project is to set up
a Food & Drink competition to establish new Wayland food products representative of
the local area to improve brand recognition: a ‘Pingo Pie’ and a ‘Wayland Wanger’ have
been suggested by local businesses, for example. We hope that this will engage, inspire
and motivate local food producers and retailers to get involved to grow their businesses.
The final direct benefit is in the form of a new Wayland marque highlighting quality of
service, local distinctiveness or commitment to the community. 

The project will have an indirect benefit on a number of other business types such as
accommodation providers, retailers, food outlets that will see an increase in the number
of customers due to increased footfall in the town centre and new visitors to the area. It
is also felt that a vibrant, active community can be a positive factor in encouraging new
businesses to locate to the area. It is expected that 20 businesses will have a direct
benefit through the supply chain and 50 businesses will benefit indirectly.

Project Budget

How much money are you applying for?
19972.6

What is the total cost of the project?
96189.68

Have you already secured other funding for this project?
Yes 

If YES, how much has been raised so far?
2234

Please provide details of this other funding and/or details of applications to other grant schemes yet to be

confirmed

Match funding as follows: 
LEADER - £65,552 (Outline application submitted and approved to move to full
application stage) Decision expected September but all match funding must be in place
prior to this.
Watton Town Council - £3,000 (Decision expected end June)
Wayland Chamber of Commerce - £1,000 (confirmed 16.06.17)
Wayland Tourism Association - £1,000 (Decision expected end June)
Income - £4,430.56
Contribution from own funds (Wayland Parish Councils annual contribution) - £1,234
(Confirmed)

Staff Costs - people who will be paid to help deliver your project

46



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 10 15

BreakdownRequested amount

Total cost

Breakdown
Contribution to Development Manager (2 hours per week) = £2,804.40
Contribution to overheads (3% of total project costs) = £3424.48
Office set-up = £600

Requested amount
3414.44
Total cost
6828.88

Breakdown
Event Costs = £19200
Food Competition = £600
Card Payment System = £700.80
Venue Hire = £1,200
Staff Travel = £1,500
Business Training = £1,440
Consumables (printing, stationary) = £1140

Requested amount
5210.16
Total cost
25780.8

Breakdown
Volunteer Training = £1440

Requested amount
720
Total cost
1440

Breakdown
Project Officer (18 hours per week plus oncosts) = £25,228.00 
Freelance Communications Officer (18 hours per week plus oncosts) = £18,912

Requested amount
8828
Total cost
44140

Volunteer Costs
For example, volunteer expenses and training

Operational/activity costs
For example, hiring a venue or providing transport for participants

Office, overhead, premises costs
For example, paying for utilities or a contribution to administration / management support

Capital costs
Things you will buy, for example materials or equipment, or cost of building works - please note
quotes/ estimates should be provided

47



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 11 15

BreakdownRequested amount

Total cost

Breakdown
Marketing/Branding = £15,000

Requested amount
1800
Total cost
18000

Publicity costs
Costs of promoting your project, for example printing leaflets or posters

Other costs
Please specify any costs that have not been included under any of the headings above

Section 3 - Impact: How your project will make a difference

Select a category from the drop down list below that best describes the impact that your project will have (the

difference it will make).
Connect people with the arts, culture and heritage 

Select the primary outcome for your project or activity - you may choose up to 3 if you wish using the boxes below
Increase opportunities for public to engage with culture and heritage 

Beneficiaries

How many people will benefit from this funding?
1000

Please tell us how you have estimated this figure - for example, it may be based on bookings, memberships,

audiences or visitors to date

This figure is based on the following breakdown, based on our experience of running
similar activities:
Volunteers receiving training
Voluntary groups receiving support
Businesses receiving training
Businesses increasing trade
Visitors and community members attending events and workshops

48



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 12 15

Primary Beneficiary - Select a single option to represent the primary beneficiary group for this grant
Local residents 

Please list any other beneficiary groups who will benefit from your grant

Black, Asian and minority ethnic Carers

Children and young people Ex-offenders/offenders/At risk of offending

Families/Parents/Lone parents Homeless people

Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgendered groups Long-term unemployed

Men Not in education, employment and training (NEET 16-24)

Older people People in care or suffering serious illness

People living in poverty People with alcohol/drug addictions

People with learning difficulties People with low skill levels

People with mental health issues People with multiple disabilities

People with physical difficulties Refugees/asylum seekers /immigrants

Victims of crime/violence/abuse Women

Ethnicity

Primary ethnic group - select a single option to represent the primary ethnic group for this grant
White British 

Please list any other ethnic groups who will benefit from your grant:

African All ethnicities

Any other Asian and Asian British

Asian and White Bangladeshi

Black African and White Black Caribbean and White

Black and Black British Caribbean

Chinese Chinese or other group

Indian Mixed

Other Asian Other Black

Other Mixed Ethnicity Other White

Pakistani White

White East European White Gypsies and Travellers

White Irish

49



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 13 15

Issues

Primary issue - select a single option to represent the primary issue that will be addressed by this grant
Economy 

Please list any other issues that will be addressed by this grant

Anti-social behaviour Arts, culture and heritage

Bullying Caring responsibilities

Counselling/Advice/Mentoring Crime and safety

Disability and access issues Domestic violence

Education, learning and training Emergency/Rescue services

Employment and labour Environment and improving surroundings

Financial exclusion and financial illiteracy Gangs

Harmful practice Health, wellbeing and serious illness

Homelessness Housing

IT / Technology Language, culture and racial integration

Mental health Offending/At risk of offending

Poverty and disadvantage Refugees/Asylum/Immigration

Religion Renewable energies and recycling

Rural issues Sexual abuse

Social inclusion and fairness Sport and recreation

Stigma/Discrimination Stronger communities/Community support and development

Substance abuse and addiction Supporting family life

Violence and Exploitation

Age Groups

Please indicate the primary age group that will benefit from this grant
All ages 

Please list any other applicable age groups for your grant.

Adults (26-65) Children (5-12)

Early years (0-4) Seniors (65+)

Young adults (19-25) Young people (13-18)

50



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 14 15

Section 4 - Supporting information and Declaration

Supporting Documents
To complete your application, you are required to submit supporting information that provides evidence of
how your organisation is set up, and details of your project. 
Along with your online application we also require you to submit copies of the following:

A copy of your constitution of governing document

A copy of your most recent annual accounts (or current financial statement if your organisation has been
operating for less than 1 year)

A copy of a recent bank statement

Evidence that you have consulted with the community

Evidence of match funding

A copy of relevant safeguarding policies if your project involves work with children or vulnerable adults

Copies of quotes, estimates or other evidence of costs if applying for funds to pay for equipment, building
works, services or similar (preferably three for each service/product)

For projects involving building works or installations of e.g. of sports/play equipment - evidence that planning
permission/ other relevant permissions are in place or that they are not required

A location map (for projects involving building works or installations of e.g. of sports/play equipment

A business plan (for projects with a total cost of over £50,000)

A copy of your equal opportunities policy/statement

Evidence of support from your Breckland Council ward member - they can send this direct to Norfolk
Community Foundation.

If you have electronic copies available, these documents can be uploaded by following the 'Add Document'
link below which will guide you to the Attachments upload function at the end of this form.  Please then
upload the documents as prompted.
 
If you prefer to send some or all of these documents separately by post or email, please check the box below,
and ensure that all the information required is submitted to Norfolk Community Foundation clearly stating the
name of the organisation and the Fund you are applying for.
 
If you do not have all of the documents listed above, or are able to provide a link to view some of your
evidence online, please provide details in the box below.
 
If you have provided documents such as the constitution and policies to Norfolk Community Foundation with
previous applications and no changes have been made, there is no need to provide further copies - where
this is the case please also note in the box below.  Please note this only applies to documents that are not
updated regularly.
 
If you have any questions about the supporting information required, please contact the Grants Team on
01603 623958 or email grants@norfolkfoundation.com

Documents to follow in post to Norfolk Community Foundation, St James Mill, Whitefriars, Norwich NR3 1TN or by

email to grants@norfolkfoundation.com

Yes

Add document

You can use this space to provide links to items you wish to purchase with your grant, or to enable us to

view documents online. Also tell us if you believe we hold current copies of your organisation's constitution

and policies.

NCF holds copies of the constitution and policies from previous applications - all other
documents to follow in the post. Business Plan and 2016 Annual Accounts attached.

51



Mon Jun 19 12:13:20 GMT 2017Application: OGA091274

  Page  of 15 15

1.  

2.  

3.  

4.  

5.  

Declaration
Please enter your name and position below to confirm that you accept the following conditions: 

I am authorised to make the application on behalf of the above organisation.

I certify that the information in this application is correct.

If the information in the application changes in any way I will inform Norfolk Community Foundation
immediately.

I give permission for Norfolk Community Foundation to record the information in this form electronically and
to contact my organisation by phone, mail or email with information about its activities and about funding
opportunities.

I agree to participate in monitoring, auditing and evaluation related to these funds - you can find out more
about how Norfolk Community Foundation monitors grants at 
www.norfolkfoundation.com/apply/funding-for-non-profits/monitoring/

Norfolk Community Foundation would like to follow up on successful applicants and potentially feature them in our
publicity. Please tick this box to confirm that, if your application is successful, you are willing to take part in publicity
activities.

Yes

Declaration - Please enter your name
Suzanne Rhind

Position in organisation
Business &
Community
Development
Manager

52

http://www.norfolkfoundation.com/apply/funding-for-non-profits/monitoring/


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Paul Claussen – Executive Member for Place

To: Cabinet – 5 September 2017
Council – 21 September 2017

Author: Cassie Ruffell, Business Growth Officer

Subject: Discretionary Retail Rate Relief Scheme

Purpose: To consider the introduction of a discretionary retail rate relief scheme within the 
five market towns of Breckland, following the Dereham pilot scheme completion. 
The retail rate relief scheme could attract investment and limit areas of retail 
decline. It is anticipated that this scheme could positively assist in a reduction in 
the number of empty retail units in targeted areas of Breckland’s five market 
towns. 
 

Recommendation(s): 

1) Members to recommend whether they consider it appropriate to adopt a discretionary retail 
rate relief scheme within the five market towns of Breckland.
 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In February 2016 members approved the introduction of a discretionary rate relief pilot 
scheme to support businesses and to seek to address retail decline within the market town 
of Dereham, within the boundaries identified through consultation with the town council and 
the business forum.

1.2 Despite the initial launch of the discretionary business rate relief targeting retail businesses 
within the defined boundaries of Dereham town centre; the interest levels have not been 
significant, however one business has benefited from the discretionary business rate relief 
scheme. The scheme encouraged a local business to expand their offering within a new 
location and to take on a long standing store of the town; the reduction in business rates in 
the first year of trading was a huge factor in their decision.

1.3 A number of enquiries have been received for the scheme with the majority eliminated due 
to the location including town and the nature of the business not meeting the eligible 
criteria. In addition to the enquiries from businesses, we received numerous enquiries from 
colleagues of other councils requesting further information on how the scheme was 
progressing and the expected benefits it would offer locally. The reduction of empty 
properties and enhancing the offer in our town and city centres is seen as a priority 
throughout the UK, will have added to this interest.

1.4 We have also surveyed other properties that have been occupied within the town centre.  
Unfortunately these businesses were either not aware of any scheme, did not require/ask 
for financial support or were not within the eligible criteria and this is an area of learning for 
additional marketing and promotion of the scheme. 

1.5 In common with many market towns in the UK, Breckland’s five market towns are 
continuing to experience a decrease in footfall as a result of for example, out of town 
shopping, and internet shopping. Additional local factors include the growth of larger 

53

Agenda Item 8



adjacent centres which attract shoppers who might otherwise spend money in Dereham, 
Thetford, Attleborough, Swaffham and Watton. 

1.6 There are other factors that will support our small businesses and high streets following the 
business rate re-evaluation.  It has been identified that Breckland retail businesses will see 
up to -2.6% reductions in their rates. This will support the shortfall from the previous retail 
rate relief that is no longer available, this offered businesses that met the criteria a £1500 
reduction per annum. 

1.7 The Government have also introduced new changes to small business rate relief by 
increasing the size threshold, increasing the percentage of small business rate relief, 
enabling eligible properties with 12,000 RV or under the full 100% business rates and 
calculated pro rata for properties up to 15,000 RV.  However, there are still a number of 
properties within our town centres and high streets that would not be eligible for relief. 

1.8 After reviewing economic statistics for start-up businesses, it identifies that business 
survival rates reduce significantly within the first 3 years of trading. Figures from ONS – 
Business demography 2015 indicates that 90% of businesses survive the first year, whilst 
after 3 years only 60% are still trading. A major factor to these statistics is cash flow/capital, 
proving that some businesses are not able to afford to start or continue to trade in 
prominent retail areas within our highstreets.

1.9 None of Breckland’s market towns are in crisis. Indeed, the local authority, County Council, 
Chamber of Commerce, Town Councils, retail and civic fora, private and voluntary sectors 
have all played their part in revitalisation. Nevertheless, retail void rates are higher than is 
desirable, street scenes’ (including shop frontages) are suboptimal and there is a growth in 
the number of charity shops on high streets. 

1.10 Although the level of interest has been muted, officers consider there is scope to continue 
with this scheme and indeed expand the offer to other market towns.

1.11 In terms of a potential expansion of the scheme within the five market towns, empty 
premises have been identified which could be supported.   Further consultation with the 
town councils and partners would establish defined zoning areas, based upon a number of 
key variables for supporting thriving high streets including: period of time that property 
remains empty, high rent levels, lower footfall areas and locations which are not directly 
central but within a short distance of the town centre.

1.12 Officers within Economic Development and Communications teams would review the 
marketing and communications used for the Dereham pilot scheme and improve the 
approach for an expanded scheme, should this be approved. 

1.13 Applicants interested in occupying vacant town centre units would be selected for 
consideration for business rates relief. Appendix 1 gives an indication of the kind of the 
eligibility of the businesses that would be supported. 

1.14 The financial implications of the introduction of a five market town scheme will largely be 
governed by the size of the discounts offered, number of properties covered by the scheme 
and the proposed zoning of each town centre. Based upon a one-year 80% business rates 
reduction for all empty properties in the five market towns, the total cost would be around 
£39,083.52 pa. These numbers are illustrated in detail in Appendix 2, attached and 
described further in section 5.7 below. As the financial illustrations show, the largest 
proportion of the cost of the scheme falls to central government. A smaller amount impacts 
upon BDC, and still less on NCC. This is because the parties involved receive 50% 40% 
and 10% respectively of the amount of business rate collected (after any local discount is 

54



applied). 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1 – Members consider the introduction of a discretionary business rate relief 
scheme for new retail businesses filling empty properties within the five market towns of 
Breckland. The scheme would commence in early 2018 with applications accepted over a 
12 month period. The scheme would offer up to 80% business rates relief for a 12 month 
period and would be targeted at businesses that meet all eligible criteria. The scheme as a 
whole would be reviewed on an annual basis.  Financial details of the scheme are shown 
within the attached spreadsheet (Appendix 2).
 

2.2 Option 2 – Do nothing; continue to offer the current schemes of small business relief and 
the Government empty premises relief. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 We have a clear corporate commitment to helping our market towns to thrive in order that 
they in turn provide the required support to surrounding villages and hinterlands. We 
recognise that Breckland’s market towns need to be vibrant and busy, offering an 
interesting and enjoyable experience to visitors.  Out of town and online shopping have 
drawn many people away from town centres. Thus, businesses find it hard to sustain a 
presence on the high street. High rents, competition and business rates add to the problem. 
The result is void premises, a preponderance of charity shops in some town centres and 
low quality retail offers in others. 

3.2 Breckland has an important role in facilitating the renaissance of its town centres. There are 
a number of ways in which it can be a catalyst of change. However, it is important to be 
seen to act quickly in support our town centre. To this end, Members are asked to agree to 
a discretionary retail rate relief scheme in all five of our market towns.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Supported by proportionate contributions from both government and NCC, a number of void 
units in Breckland could be filled by new high-quality independent retail and service sector 
businesses, reducing the impact of a relatively large number of charity shops.  

4.2 The scheme would provide the support to new businesses looking to locate and start within 
the Breckland area; this would work well in support of the Government relief being provided 
to existing businesses that have seen a significant increase in business rates following the 
re-evaluation. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS – 

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1    Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 has been amended by the Localism 
Act 2011 to give Council’s the power to give discretionary discount on business rates. The 

55



discount may be awarded to any property or businesses of the Council’s choosing.  This 
can be on any building type, size, location, function, in support of a regeneration policy etc.  
The discount can apply to an individual account or a group of accounts for a similar 
business type or facing a similar issue.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 This proposal clearly supports our corporate plan objectives.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 Reducing empty shops can have a positive contribution to improving anti-social behaviour.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Details of the recommendation are shown within the attached spreadsheet (Appendix 2). 
This spreadsheet indicates that if all the current empty properties in all five market town 
centres were full we would see an income in business rates to the value of £97,708.79 per 
annum.  With the discretionary discount with all shops receiving the full 80% retail reduction 
discount this would reduce to £19,541.76 per annum.  This results in a difference of 
£78.167.03. These figures are likely to reduce following consultation on precise boundaries, 
eliminating a number of properties that would not be within the eligible criteria.

5.7.2 Whilst the Council is currently in a growth position for NNDR income, a levy is paid to 
Government of 50% of all growth above the Government baseline. The proposed relief 
above would reduce the annual NNDR income by £78,167.03 resulting in reducing the levy 
payable by £39,083.52 meaning the overall impact on Breckland of the illustrative scheme 
would be £39,083.52 per year under Option 1. 

5.7.3 Given the results from the pilot discretionary rate relief scheme, this indicated that we only 
had an 8% take-up of the scheme, and a 35% interest to the scheme. This would reduce 
the cost to the council considerably.

5.7.4 This levy is normally paid into the Norfolk County Council “Norfolk Pool” for use on 
economic development projects in the area.  Introducing the scheme would result in this 
levy reducing by the £39,083.52 per annum.  

5.7.5 Whilst reviewing these figures and the amount in loss with the discretionary rate relief 
awarded, this would only be on the first year of trading, meaning the income of business 
rates for the council would increase in the second year when the full rates would be paid. 
Reviewing the empty from column within the table, it indicates that 57 out of the 104 
businesses have been empty for 18months or over. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

56



5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 The scheme will need to have clear rules and processes to remove potential for abuse and 
will need to be reviewed annually based on affordability for the Council.

5.10 Staffing

5.10.1 The scheme will be administered by the Inward Investment Team and Anglian Revenues 
Partnership, it is anticipated the administrative requirements of the scheme can be met 
within the existing ARP resources and Inward Investment services.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 To be agreed following Members discussion and decision on the way forward.

5.12 Safeguarding

5.12.1   It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford, Watton

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no acronyms.

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Cassie Ruffell, Business Growth Officer
Tel: 01362 656234    Email: cassie.ruffell@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: TBC

Exempt Decision: NO

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 Guidance & Application for Discretionary Rate Relief
Appendix 2 Discretionary Rate Relief Financial 2017 scheme

57



 
 

 

 

Application Guidance for Discretionary Retail Rate Relief 
 

 
Please ensure that you have confirmed eligibility before proceeding with an application 

 

Guidance notes for completing applications for discretionary retail rate relief 
 
Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
 
The Council will consider a Section 47 award to applicants who meet the qualifying criteria, as 
specified in this policy, providing sufficient funding for this purpose is available at the time of the 
Councils decision.  All applications will be considered on their individual merits. 
 
The features of the Breckland District Council Section 47 scheme are that: 
 

• It is discretionary; 
• An applicant does not have a statutory right to payment; 
• The total expenditure in any one year resulting from awards under this scheme will not 

exceed the value of the funding allocated for the purpose in that financial year; 
• The Council may choose to vary the way in which funds are allocated according to 

community needs and available funds; 
• There is no right to statutory appeal of any application decision.  

 
Breckland District Council recognises that it must be able to respond flexibly to the needs of business 
taxpayers within the district if it wants to support strong and sustainable local communities with 
vibrant business sectors. 
 
Section 47 discount awards will be used to help town centres in the district by positively assisting 
with the reduction in the number of empty retail units and attract a wider pool of interest making 
town centres the place to visit. 
 
A section 47 award of up to 80% will be available to eligible businesses situated within the primary 
areas allocated for relief within the market town.   
 
 
Benefit to the Community 
 
A business may benefit the local community in a number of ways.  The Council does not believe that 
it can provide an exhaustive list of the ways in which a business may demonstrate benefit.  These 
may include: 

a) Providing significant local employment 
b) Provide facilities that are easily obtained by residents who would not be able to obtain them 

otherwise 
c) Creating or supporting  activities which support community life 
d) Creating or supporting opportunities for education or training 
e) Providing or supporting leisure activities for local residents 
f) Generally improving the quality of life for local residents 

 

 

58



 
 
Qualifying Conditions 
 
Properties that will benefit from the relief will be newly occupied properties with a rateable value of 
£50,000 or less, that are wholly or mainly being used as retail, restaurants and cafes within the 
dedicated zones identified by the Council. Beneficiaries of section 47 relief must qualify as an 
independent business.  
 
Retail establishments are considered to mean: 

a) Properties that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the public; 
b) Properties that are being used for the provision of services to visiting members of the public; 
c) Properties that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting members of the 

public 
 
The term wholly or mainly being used as a retail, restaurant, café or drinking establishment is a test 
on use rather than occupation.  Therefore, properties which are occupied but not wholly or mainly 
used for the qualifying purpose will not qualify for the relief. 
 
 
Qualifying Criteria 
 

a) Properties that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the public: 
 
Shops (such as: florist, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, stationers, off licence, 
chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, etc) 
Opticians 
Furnishing shops/display rooms (such as: Carpet shops, double glazing, garage doors) 
Second hand car lots 
Garden centres 
Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 
 

b) Properties that are being used for the provision of services to visiting members of the public; 
 
Hair and beauty services (such as: hairdressers nail bars, beauty salons, tanning shops, etc) 
Shoe repairs/key cutting 
Travel agents 
Ticket offices 
Dry cleaners 
Laundrettes 
PC/TV/domestic appliance repair 
Funeral directors 
Photo processing 
DVD/video rentals 
Tool hire 
Car hire 
 

c) Properties that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting members of the 
public 

 
Restaurants 
Sandwich shops 
Coffee shops 

59



 
The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to list the many and 
varied retail uses that exist.  There will also be mixed uses. 
 
The list below sets out the types of use that are excluded for the purpose of this relief. 
 
 
Non Qualifying Criteria 
 
Please note that properties being used for the provision of the following services to visiting 
members of the public are not eligible for retail rate relief: 
 
Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureau de change, payday lenders, 
betting shops, pawn brokers) 
Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies) 
Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 
Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/financial advisers, tutors) 
Post office sorting office, Post Offices 
Markets 
Petrol stations 
Takeaways 
Pubs and Bars 
 
Applying for a Section 47 Award 
 
In order for an application to be considered, there is a formal application form which should be 
submitted to Breckland Council under the Section 47 Relief Application.  Each application shall 
include the following information: 
 

1. Business Plan with 12 month financial forecast; 
2. Purpose and use of the property; 
3. Details of the organisation and the services performed; 
4. What steps have been taken to meet or mitigate the Business Rates liability (i.e. any other 

discounts or reductions awarded); 
5. How granting the discount will benefit the district (i.e. does it create or save jobs, does it 

provide growth to the community). 
 
There are no pre-set criteria for the award of a Section 47 discount.  Each application will be 
considered on its individual merits and will include the 5 conditions set out above.  Particular 
consideration will be given to condition 5. 
 
Where a scheme relates to a Government Scheme, the method of application and the eligibility 
criteria will be as set out by the Government or, where local discretion is allowed, as defined by the 
Council for that specific instance.   
 
The discretionary retail rate relief application form requires each applicant to complete all sections 
of the form in as much detail as possible (this will help reduce the time needed to determine your 
application).  
 
The funding declaration section on the application form must be completed with details of any 
funding received in the last year from any source; this must include any other business rate relief 
received or are applying for against the same property. 
 
 

60



 
 
 
Awarding a Section 47 Discount 
 
In deciding whether to make a Section 47 award we will have regard to the applicants 
circumstances.  In order to do this each applicant may be asked to supply reasonable supporting 
evidence to substantiate the answers that they give to the questions above. 
This may include, but is not limited to: 
 

• Growth or downsizing plans; 
• Any sources of credit such as cash cards, credit cards, cheque accounts, overdraft facilities, 

loan arrangements; 
• Any help which is likely to be available to the applicant from other sources; 
• Any other special circumstance of which we are aware. 

 
The Council will decide how much to award based on all of the applicants’ circumstances and the 
Section 47 funds available and we will be mindful of the likely total calls on the Section 47 fund. 
 
Decisions on the eligibility for an award will be made by a panel. 
 
 
Payment of a Section 47 award 
 
All awards will be made by crediting the award value to the business rate account to which it applies. 
 
If by crediting the award, the account moves to an overall credit balance, a refund of that balance 
will be considered in the normal manner. 
 
 
Notification 
 
The Council will notify the applicant of the outcome of their request on the day the decision is made.  
The notification will be made in writing. 
 
Where the request of a Section 47 discount award is unsuccessful or not met in full the Council will 
explain the reasons why the decision was made. 
 
 
The Right to Appeal 
 
Section 47 awards are administered under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and awards are 
not subject to a statutory appeals process.  Appeals will therefore be decided by the Council. 
 
The Council will operate the following policy for dealing with appeals: 

• An applicant who disagrees with a decision may appeal the decision. 
• Any appeal must be made in writing within one calendar month of the original decision. 
• Where possible the Council will resolve the matter and provide reasons of the decision to 

the applicant either verbally or in writing. 
 
Decisions on appeals will be made by the panel.  
 
If the Council decide that the original decision should not be revised, we will provide full written 
reasons to the applicant within 14 working days. 

61



 
 
 
 
Overpayments 
 
If the Council becomes aware that the information contained in an application for a section 47 
discount award was incorrect or that relevant information was not declared, either internally or 
otherwise, the Council may seek to recover the value of any award made as a result of that 
application.  The award will be removed from the relevant business rates account and any resulting 
balance will be subject to the normal methods of collection and recovery applicable to such 
accounts. 
 
 
Fraud 
 
The Council is committed to fight against fraud in all its forms.  Any applicant who tries to 
fraudulently claim a Section 47 award might have committed an offence under the Fraud Act 2006. 
 
If the Council suspects that fraud may have occurred, the matter will be investigates as appropriate 
and this could lead to criminal proceedings. 
 
 
Publicity 
 
The Council will publicise the scheme and provide information to relevant agencies, stakeholders 
and other Council services. 
 
 
Monitoring 
 
The Council will monitor Section 47 Discount awards to ensure that this policy has been applied fairly 
and consistently and that expenditure does not exceed the budget available.  This monitoring will be 
conducted by the Inward Investment team in liaison with Anglia Revenues Partnership.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62



 
 
 

 

 
APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY RETAIL RATE RELIEF 

To apply for discretionary retail rate relief please complete all questions and sections of 
this form in BLOCK CAPITAL LETTERS.  This will help reduce the time needed to determine 
your application.  Please return a signed copy of the application form to the address at the 
end of the form. 

Full name of ratepayer/owner  

Account Number (if known)  

Contact number   

Email address  

Full address of the property on which the relief 
is to be claimed (please include postcode) 
 
 
 
 

 

Purpose for which the premises are used 
 
 

 

Is the use stated above the sole use of the 
property?  If no please provide details. 
 
 
 

 

Give details of the type of organisation,  and the 
nature of the services performed,  or activities 
carried out at the premises 
 
 
 
 

 

Give details of the way in which your 
organisation is of benefit to the local community 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Explain why it is in the interest of the Council 
Taxpayers to grant relief 
 
 
 
 

 

 

63



 
FUNDING DECLARATION 

Please provide details of any grants you have received in the last year and the source of funding (E.g. 
Local Government, European funding and National Lottery etc.) 
 
Amount of funding £ Date of funding given Organisation provided 

funding 
Nature of funding 

    

    

    

    

 

Business plan with 12 month financial forecast provided with application                YES / NO 

 

DECLARATION 
 
 
Please ensure you have read the separate guidance notes carefully and have answered all of the 
questions before signing the declaration. 
 
I declare that: 
 

I am authorised to sign this form on behalf of the ratepayer/owner named overleaf. 
The form is completely correct, to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
I have read the separate guidance notes 

 
I am applying for Discretionary Rate Relief.  I confirm that the information given above is true and 
complete to the best of my knowledge. 
 
 
Signed:………………………………………………………………………………………..Dated:……………………………………………
…………………… 
 
Name (BLOCK 
CAPITALS):………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Position in company (if 
relevant):……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
 
Please return this completed form to: Business Rates Relief, Economic 
Development, Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 
1EE 

64



Y or N (only applies where this is the only 
business of the ratepayer)

After Government 
discounts

50% of business rates paid 40% of business rates paid 10% of business rates paid

3 QUEENS SQUARE ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AF 30/06/2016 14000 £6,706.00 BANK AND PREMISES 33.33% £4,470.89 £2,235.45 £1,788.36 £447.09
4 3 CHURCH STREET ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AH 01/04/2017 8800 £4,215.20 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
5 HAIRDRESSERS HIGH STREET NR17 2BT 01/11/2016 2225 £1,065.78 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
7 OFFICE 7 QUEENS SQUARE ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AF 31/08/2016 2150 £1,029.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
10 IST FLOOR 17 MAURICE GAYMER ROAD ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2QZ 15/01/2016 23250 £11,136.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,136.75 £5,568.38 £4,454.70 £1,113.68
11 PUBLIC CONVENIENCES COWPER ROAD CAR PARK NR19 2DA 01/03/2010 7200 £3,448.80 PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
12 16/18 HIGH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1DR 01/03/2017 27500 £12,306.36 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £12,306.36 £6,153.18 £4,922.54 £1,230.64
13 16 CHURCH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1DN 01/04/2015 3050 £1,460.95 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
18 SHOP AT PENHILL ETLING GREEN NR20 3EY 03/03/2008 2400 £1,149.60 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
20 FIRST FLOOR 20 HIGH STREET NR19 1DR 31/12/2009 1525 £730.48 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
21 9A MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AW 01/04/2017 15750 £7,544.25 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £7,544.25 £3,772.13 £3,017.70 £754.43
22 12A MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AW 17/03/2016 5200 £2,490.80 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
23 13 MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AW 01/04/2015 23750 £11,376.25 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,376.25 £5,688.13 £4,550.50 £1,137.63
24 24A MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AX 06/10/2014 6900 £3,305.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
25 PT 2ND FLOOR OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 2150 £1,029.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
26 1ST FLOOR,OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 13250 £6,346.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 58.33% £2,644.69 £1,322.35 £1,057.88 £264.47
27 2ND FLOOR OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS MARKET PLACE NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 930 £445.47 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
28 1ST FLOOR OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 5900 £2,826.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
29 30 MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AP 01/04/2017 29250 £14,709.31 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £14,709.31 £7,354.66 £5,883.72 £1,470.93
31 MALTINGS FARM NORWICH ROAD NR20 3AQ 01/04/2008 2750 £1,317.25 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
32 UNIT 5 CUTHBERT COURT NORWICH ROAD NR19 1BX 29/01/2016 860 £411.94 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
33 15 NORWICH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1BX 06/01/2017 3100 £345.80 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
34 4 NORWICH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1BX 30/12/2016 7600 £3,640.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
35 QUEBEC STREET DEREHAM NR19 2DJ 28/06/2015 13500 £6,466.50 CLUB AND PREMISES 49.99% £3,233.90 £1,616.95 £1,293.56 £323.39
36 33 QUEBEC STREET DEREHAM NR19 2DJ 01/11/2016 10000 £4,790.00 DAY NURSERY AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
38 TRAFALGER BUSINESS PARK RASHES GREEN NR19 1JG 30/03/2013 1700 £814.30 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
39 TRAFALGER HOUSE RASHES GREEN NR19 1JG 31/03/2017 6300 £2,273.61 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
40 SOCIAL CLUB TRAFALGER BUSINESS PARK NR19 1JG 24/12/2008 8100 £3,879.90 CLUB AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
41 UNIT 1 RASHES GREEN DEREHAM NR19 1JG 02/09/2016 6400 £3,065.60 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
43 ROOM 415 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 30/11/2015 780 £373.62 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
44 ROOM 412 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 17/09/2015 570 £273.03 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
45 ROOMS 308‐311 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 03/01/2017 8300 £3,953.92 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
46 ROOM 214 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 20/04/2016 2425 £1,161.58 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
47 ROOM 200 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 24/07/2015 1225 £586.78 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
48 ROOMS 322‐323 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 02/11/2016 6700 £3,209.30 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
49 ROOM 431 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 02/11/2016 6200 £2,969.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
50 ROOMS 428‐430 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 05/01/2017 4050 £1,918.69 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
51 ROOM 217 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE ST WITHBURGA LANE NR19 1ED 27/04/2015 2125 £1,017.88 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
52 R/O MILL HOUSE SHIPDHAM ROAD NR19 1NN 31/05/2010 2125 £1,017.88 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
53 UNIT 2A FORMER ALDOUS SITE YAXHAM ROAD NR19 1HR 18/11/2014 2150 £1,029.85 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
54 1ST FLOOR 28 BRIDGE STREET THETFORD IP24 3AG 31/03/2015 1900 £910.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
55 2ND FLOOR 28 BRIDGE STREET THETFORD IP24 3AG 31/03/2015 1150 £550.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
56 THE LIMES 32 BRIDGE STREET IP24 3AG 01/03/2017 25000 £11,975.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,975.00 £5,987.50 £4,790.00 £1,197.50
62 1A CASTLE STREET THETFORD IP24 2DL 10/02/2014 2150 £1,029.85 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
63 5 CASTLE STREET THETFORD IP24 2DL 10/07/2014 4550 £2,179.45 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
64 34 CASTLE STREET THETFORD IP24 2DW 11/08/2006 7700 £3,688.30 DAY NURSERY AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
66 39 ‐ 45 BRUNEL WAY THETFORD IP24 1HP 31/05/2016 4200 £2,011.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
67 ROOM 2‐03 KEYSTONE INNOVATION CENTRE IP24 1JD 03/01/2017 9800 £4,668.48 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
68 ROOM 3‐02 KEYSTONE INNOVATION CENTRE IP24 1JD 01/04/2015 55500 £26,584.50 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £26,584.50 £13,292.25 £10,633.80 £2,658.45
69 SOCIAL SERVICES NCC,ELM ROAD THETFORD IP24 3HL 30/07/2013 14000 £6,706.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 33.33% £4,470.89 £2,235.45 £1,788.36 £447.09
72 2 GROVE LANE THETFORD IP24 2HY 12/12/2007 860 £411.94 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
75 39 KING STREET THETFORD IP24 2AU 01/04/2012 7000 £3,353.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
76 51 KING STREET THETFORD IP24 2AU 31/10/2016 12750 £2,543.29 SHOP AND PREMISES 75.00% £635.82 £317.91 £254.33 £63.58
79 2 MAGDALEN STREET THETFORD IP24 2BN 01/08/2016 6200 £2,969.80 RESTAURANT AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
80 1ST & 2ND FLOORS 3 MARKET PLACE THETFORD IP24 2AH 01/04/2012 7800 £3,736.20 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
81 4 THE SHAMBLES,MARKET PLACE THETFORD IP24 2AL 04/03/2017 5900 £216.80 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
82 UNIT 1 MILLERS LANE THETFORD IP24 1AP 31/07/2009 1825 £874.18 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
85 THE DOLPHIN OLD MARKET STREET IP24 2EQ 27/02/2017 18000 £1,346.45 PUBLIC HOUSE AND PREMISES 0.00% £1,346.45 £673.23 £538.58 £134.65
86 3 PINE CLOSE THETFORD IP24 3LA 01/04/2003 2600 £1,245.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
87 5 PINE CLOSE THETFORD IP24 3LA 31/12/1999 2600 £1,245.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
88 27 RIVERSIDE WALK THETFORD IP24 2BB 03/01/2017 12500 £5,987.50 SHOP AND PREMISES 83.33% £998.12 £499.06 £399.25 £99.81
89 41 RIVERSIDE WALK THETFORD IP24 2BB 30/06/2010 9600 £4,598.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
93 ROOMS 106 BRECKLAND HOUSE ST NICHOLAS STREET IP24 1BG 01/04/2017 5100 £1,833.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
94 ROOMS 103‐105 BRECKLAND HOUSE ST NICHOLAS STREET IP24 1BG 11/04/2017 4150 £1,437.79 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
96 UNIT 3A KELVIN PLACE THETFORD IP24 3RR 03/11/2014 1350 £646.65 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
97 ASHLEY HOUSE STEPHENSON WAY IP24 3RP 14/03/2017 32250 £12,315.88 SHOP, OFFICE AND PREMISES 0.00% £12,315.88 £6,157.94 £4,926.35 £1,231.59
100 TANNER HOUSE 15 TANNER STREET IP24 2BQ 10/07/2014 19500 £9,340.50 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £9,340.50 £4,670.25 £3,736.20 £934.05
101 TOP FLOOR TANNERS COURT IP24 2BQ 30/06/2013 7900 £3,784.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
102 22 WELL STREET THETFORD IP24 2BL 21/03/2017 7400 £2,757.99 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
103 REAR OF 9/11 WHITE HART STREET IP24 1AA 31/07/2005 1650 £790.35 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
104 52 YORK WAY THETFORD IP24 1EJ 10/08/2006 4350 £2,083.65 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
105 56/56A YORK WAY THETFORD IP24 1EJ 31/05/2016 10250 £4,909.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
106 6 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 56000 £26,824.00 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £26,824.00 £13,412.00 £10,729.60 £2,682.40
107 3 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 40000 £19,160.00 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £19,160.00 £9,580.00 £7,664.00 £1,916.00
108 4 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 21250 £10,178.75 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £10,178.75 £5,089.38 £4,071.50 £1,017.88
109 5 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 19000 £9,101.00 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £9,101.00 £4,550.50 £3,640.40 £910.10
112 OFFICE 4 2ND FLOOR ECOTECH BUSINESS CENTRE PE37 7HS 01/01/2014 1225 £586.78 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
113 SWAFFHAM SOCIAL CLUB 2 LONDON STREET PE37 7DG 01/04/2016 9300 £4,454.70 PUBLIC HOUSE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
114 6 LONDON STREET SWAFFHAM PE37 7DG 28/01/2017 38000 £16,855.55 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £16,855.55 £8,427.78 £6,742.22 £1,685.56
115 9 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7AB 01/10/2016 13750 £3,284.10 SHOP AND PREMISES 41.67% £1,915.62 £957.81 £766.25 £191.56
116 UNIT 2 11 ‐ 12 MARKET PLACE PE37 7AB 10/04/2016 10250 £4,909.75 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
117 OLD SCHOOL THEATRE GROUP 18 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 30/03/2015 6600 £3,161.40 COMMUNITY CENTRE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
118 19B MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LA 01/04/2016 3700 £1,772.30 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
119 24 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 31/12/2007 8200 £3,927.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
120 25 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LA 04/06/2016 6400 £2,528.07 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
121 UPPER FLOOR 25 MARKET PLACE PE37 7LA 01/04/2016 3350 £1,604.65 DENTAL LABORATORY 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
122 28 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 01/04/2003 10000 £4,790.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
123 44 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 07/05/2015 28500 £13,651.50 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £13,651.50 £6,825.75 £5,460.60 £1,365.15
124 48 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 14/09/2013 8500 £4,071.50 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
125 51 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LE 26/08/2015 24000 £11,496.00 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,496.00 £5,748.00 £4,598.40 £1,149.60
126 59 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LE 01/08/2005 8600 £4,119.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
127 2ND FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE 32 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 01/04/2008 780 £373.62 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
128 SECOND FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE 32 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 01/04/2014 2850 £1,365.15 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
129 FIRST FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE PE37 7QH 01/11/2009 3100 £1,484.90 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
130 FIRST FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE 32 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 25/04/2015 5600 £2,682.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
131 15 PLOWRIGHT PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LQ 01/12/2016 6700 £3,209.30 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
132 TOWER MEADOWS SWAFFHAM PE37 7LT 17/05/2015 1750 £838.25 CAR SALES GROUND 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
134 OFFICE,R/O 53 STATION STREET SWAFFHAM PE37 7HP 01/04/2003 1000 £479.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
144 5A HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AB 01/09/2016 4350 £2,083.65 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
145 BULL HOTEL HIGH STREET IP25 6AB 26/06/2009 11750 £5,628.25 PUBLIC HOUSE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
146 R/O 13 HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AB 13/09/2013 2950 £1,413.05 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
147 10B HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AE 10/01/2014 3300 £1,580.70 RESTAURANT AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
148 82A HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AW 07/02/2012 8200 £3,927.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

65



151 UNIT 4,VENTURA HOUSE VENTURA HOUSE IP25 6DW 18/02/2013 2300 £1,101.70 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
152 10 VENTURA HOUSE NORWICH ROAD IP25 6JU 01/04/2016 2250 £1,077.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

£16,812.90 £244,271.97 £122,135.99 £97,708.79 £24,427.20

Empty Property Addr1 Addr2 Postcode Empty From Rateable Value Gross Rates Due £ Type of Business Small business rates relief % Rates due £ BDC Discretionary Relief £ Rates due £ Gov £ BDC £ NCC £
(only applies where this is the only 

business of the ratepayer)
After Government 

discounts
Discount amount from maximum 
amount of 80% given through BDC 
discretionary Relief Scheme

After BDC dicretionary rate relief 50% of business rates paid 40% of business rates paid 10% of business rates paid

3 QUEENS SQUARE ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AF 30/06/2016 14000 £6,706.00 BANK AND PREMISES 33.33% £4,470.89 £3,576.71 £894.18 £447.09 £357.67 £89.42
4 3 CHURCH STREET ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AH 01/04/2017 8800 £4,215.20 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
5 HAIRDRESSERS HIGH STREET NR17 2BT 01/11/2016 2225 £1,065.78 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
7 OFFICE 7 QUEENS SQUARE ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AF 31/08/2016 2150 £1,029.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
10 IST FLOOR 17 MAURICE GAYMER ROAD ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2QZ 15/01/2016 23250 £11,136.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,136.75 £8,909.40 £2,227.35 £1,113.68 £890.94 £222.74
11 PUBLIC CONVENIENCES COWPER ROAD CAR PARK NR19 2DA 01/03/2010 7200 £3,448.80 PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
12 16/18 HIGH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1DR 01/03/2017 27500 £12,306.36 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £12,306.36 £9,845.09 £2,461.27 £1,230.64 £984.51 £246.13
13 16 CHURCH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1DN 01/04/2015 3050 £1,460.95 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
18 SHOP AT PENHILL ETLING GREEN NR20 3EY 03/03/2008 2400 £1,149.60 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
20 FIRST FLOOR 20 HIGH STREET NR19 1DR 31/12/2009 1525 £730.48 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
21 9A MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AW 01/04/2017 15750 £7,544.25 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £7,544.25 £6,035.40 £1,508.85 £754.43 £603.54 £150.89
22 12A MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AW 17/03/2016 5200 £2,490.80 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
23 13 MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AW 01/04/2015 23750 £11,376.25 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,376.25 £9,101.00 £2,275.25 £1,137.63 £910.10 £227.53
24 24A MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AX 06/10/2014 6900 £3,305.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
25 PT 2ND FLOOR OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 2150 £1,029.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
26 1ST FLOOR,OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 13250 £6,346.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 58.33% £2,644.69 £2,115.75 £528.94 £264.47 £211.58 £52.89
27 2ND FLOOR OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS MARKET PLACE NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 930 £445.47 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
28 1ST FLOOR OLD EAGLE BUILDINGS NR19 2AP 01/07/2015 5900 £2,826.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
29 30 MARKET PLACE DEREHAM NR19 2AP 01/04/2017 29250 £14,709.31 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £14,709.31 £11,767.45 £2,941.86 £1,470.93 £1,176.74 £294.19
31 MALTINGS FARM NORWICH ROAD NR20 3AQ 01/04/2008 2750 £1,317.25 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
32 UNIT 5 CUTHBERT COURT NORWICH ROAD NR19 1BX 29/01/2016 860 £411.94 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
33 15 NORWICH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1BX 06/01/2017 3100 £345.80 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
34 4 NORWICH STREET DEREHAM NR19 1BX 30/12/2016 7600 £3,640.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
35 QUEBEC STREET DEREHAM NR19 2DJ 28/06/2015 13500 £6,466.50 CLUB AND PREMISES 49.99% £3,233.90 £2,587.12 £646.78 £323.39 £258.71 £64.68
36 33 QUEBEC STREET DEREHAM NR19 2DJ 01/11/2016 10000 £4,790.00 DAY NURSERY AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
38 TRAFALGER BUSINESS PARK RASHES GREEN NR19 1JG 30/03/2013 1700 £814.30 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
39 TRAFALGER HOUSE RASHES GREEN NR19 1JG 31/03/2017 6300 £2,273.61 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
40 SOCIAL CLUB TRAFALGER BUSINESS PARK NR19 1JG 24/12/2008 8100 £3,879.90 CLUB AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
41 UNIT 1 RASHES GREEN DEREHAM NR19 1JG 02/09/2016 6400 £3,065.60 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
43 ROOM 415 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 30/11/2015 780 £373.62 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
44 ROOM 412 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 17/09/2015 570 £273.03 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
45 ROOMS 308‐311 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 03/01/2017 8300 £3,953.92 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
46 ROOM 214 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 20/04/2016 2425 £1,161.58 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
47 ROOM 200 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 24/07/2015 1225 £586.78 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
48 ROOMS 322‐323 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 02/11/2016 6700 £3,209.30 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
49 ROOM 431 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 02/11/2016 6200 £2,969.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
50 ROOMS 428‐430 AT BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE NR19 1ED 05/01/2017 4050 £1,918.69 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
51 ROOM 217 BRECKLAND BUSINESS CENTRE ST WITHBURGA LANE NR19 1ED 27/04/2015 2125 £1,017.88 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
52 R/O MILL HOUSE SHIPDHAM ROAD NR19 1NN 31/05/2010 2125 £1,017.88 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
53 UNIT 2A FORMER ALDOUS SITE YAXHAM ROAD NR19 1HR 18/11/2014 2150 £1,029.85 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
54 1ST FLOOR 28 BRIDGE STREET THETFORD IP24 3AG 31/03/2015 1900 £910.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
55 2ND FLOOR 28 BRIDGE STREET THETFORD IP24 3AG 31/03/2015 1150 £550.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
56 THE LIMES 32 BRIDGE STREET IP24 3AG 01/03/2017 25000 £11,975.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,975.00 £9,580.00 £2,395.00 £1,197.50 £958.00 £239.50
62 1A CASTLE STREET THETFORD IP24 2DL 10/02/2014 2150 £1,029.85 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
63 5 CASTLE STREET THETFORD IP24 2DL 10/07/2014 4550 £2,179.45 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
64 34 CASTLE STREET THETFORD IP24 2DW 11/08/2006 7700 £3,688.30 DAY NURSERY AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
66 39 ‐ 45 BRUNEL WAY THETFORD IP24 1HP 31/05/2016 4200 £2,011.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
67 ROOM 2‐03 KEYSTONE INNOVATION CENTRE IP24 1JD 03/01/2017 9800 £4,668.48 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
68 ROOM 3‐02 KEYSTONE INNOVATION CENTRE IP24 1JD 01/04/2015 55500 £26,584.50 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £26,584.50 £21,267.60 £5,316.90 £2,658.45 £2,126.76 £531.69
69 SOCIAL SERVICES NCC,ELM ROAD THETFORD IP24 3HL 30/07/2013 14000 £6,706.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 33.33% £4,470.89 £3,576.71 £894.18 £447.09 £357.67 £89.42
72 2 GROVE LANE THETFORD IP24 2HY 12/12/2007 860 £411.94 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
75 39 KING STREET THETFORD IP24 2AU 01/04/2012 7000 £3,353.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
76 51 KING STREET THETFORD IP24 2AU 31/10/2016 12750 £2,543.29 SHOP AND PREMISES 75.00% £635.82 £508.66 £127.16 £63.58 £50.87 £12.72
79 2 MAGDALEN STREET THETFORD IP24 2BN 01/08/2016 6200 £2,969.80 RESTAURANT AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
80 1ST & 2ND FLOORS 3 MARKET PLACE THETFORD IP24 2AH 01/04/2012 7800 £3,736.20 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
81 4 THE SHAMBLES,MARKET PLACE THETFORD IP24 2AL 04/03/2017 5900 £216.80 HAIRDRESSING SALON AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
82 UNIT 1 MILLERS LANE THETFORD IP24 1AP 31/07/2009 1825 £874.18 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
85 THE DOLPHIN OLD MARKET STREET IP24 2EQ 27/02/2017 18000 £1,346.45 PUBLIC HOUSE AND PREMISES 0.00% £1,346.45 £1,077.16 £269.29 £134.65 £107.72 £26.93
86 3 PINE CLOSE THETFORD IP24 3LA 01/04/2003 2600 £1,245.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
87 5 PINE CLOSE THETFORD IP24 3LA 31/12/1999 2600 £1,245.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
88 27 RIVERSIDE WALK THETFORD IP24 2BB 03/01/2017 12500 £5,987.50 SHOP AND PREMISES 83.33% £998.12 £798.49 £199.62 £99.81 £79.85 £19.96
89 41 RIVERSIDE WALK THETFORD IP24 2BB 30/06/2010 9600 £4,598.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
93 ROOMS 106 BRECKLAND HOUSE ST NICHOLAS STREET IP24 1BG 01/04/2017 5100 £1,833.85 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
94 ROOMS 103‐105 BRECKLAND HOUSE ST NICHOLAS STREET IP24 1BG 11/04/2017 4150 £1,437.79 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
96 UNIT 3A KELVIN PLACE THETFORD IP24 3RR 03/11/2014 1350 £646.65 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
97 ASHLEY HOUSE STEPHENSON WAY IP24 3RP 14/03/2017 32250 £12,315.88 SHOP, OFFICE AND PREMISES 0.00% £12,315.88 £9,852.70 £2,463.18 £1,231.59 £985.27 £246.32
100 TANNER HOUSE 15 TANNER STREET IP24 2BQ 10/07/2014 19500 £9,340.50 OFFICES AND PREMISES 0.00% £9,340.50 £7,472.40 £1,868.10 £934.05 £747.24 £186.81
101 TOP FLOOR TANNERS COURT IP24 2BQ 30/06/2013 7900 £3,784.10 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
102 22 WELL STREET THETFORD IP24 2BL 21/03/2017 7400 £2,757.99 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
103 REAR OF 9/11 WHITE HART STREET IP24 1AA 31/07/2005 1650 £790.35 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
104 52 YORK WAY THETFORD IP24 1EJ 10/08/2006 4350 £2,083.65 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
105 56/56A YORK WAY THETFORD IP24 1EJ 31/05/2016 10250 £4,909.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
106 6 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 56000 £26,824.00 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £26,824.00 £21,459.20 £5,364.80 £2,682.40 £2,145.92 £536.48
107 3 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 40000 £19,160.00 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £19,160.00 £15,328.00 £3,832.00 £1,916.00 £1,532.80 £383.20
108 4 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 21250 £10,178.75 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £10,178.75 £8,143.00 £2,035.75 £1,017.88 £814.30 £203.58
109 5 ANCHOR PLACE THETFORD IP24 3AQ 30/09/2016 19000 £9,101.00 Restaurant and Premises 0.00% £9,101.00 £7,280.80 £1,820.20 £910.10 £728.08 £182.02
112 OFFICE 4 2ND FLOOR ECOTECH BUSINESS CENTRE PE37 7HS 01/01/2014 1225 £586.78 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
113 SWAFFHAM SOCIAL CLUB 2 LONDON STREET PE37 7DG 01/04/2016 9300 £4,454.70 PUBLIC HOUSE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
114 6 LONDON STREET SWAFFHAM PE37 7DG 28/01/2017 38000 £16,855.55 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £16,855.55 £13,484.44 £3,371.11 £1,685.56 £1,348.44 £337.11
115 9 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7AB 01/10/2016 13750 £3,284.10 SHOP AND PREMISES 41.67% £1,915.62 £1,532.49 £383.12 £191.56 £153.25 £38.31
116 UNIT 2 11 ‐ 12 MARKET PLACE PE37 7AB 10/04/2016 10250 £4,909.75 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
117 OLD SCHOOL THEATRE GROUP 18 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 30/03/2015 6600 £3,161.40 COMMUNITY CENTRE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
118 19B MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LA 01/04/2016 3700 £1,772.30 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
119 24 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 31/12/2007 8200 £3,927.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
120 25 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LA 04/06/2016 6400 £2,528.07 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
121 UPPER FLOOR 25 MARKET PLACE PE37 7LA 01/04/2016 3350 £1,604.65 DENTAL LABORATORY 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
122 28 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 01/04/2003 10000 £4,790.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
123 44 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 07/05/2015 28500 £13,651.50 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £13,651.50 £10,921.20 £2,730.30 £1,365.15 £1,092.12 £273.03
124 48 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7QH 14/09/2013 8500 £4,071.50 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
125 51 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LE 26/08/2015 24000 £11,496.00 SHOP AND PREMISES 0.00% £11,496.00 £9,196.80 £2,299.20 £1,149.60 £919.68 £229.92
126 59 MARKET PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LE 01/08/2005 8600 £4,119.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
127 2ND FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE 32 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 01/04/2008 780 £373.62 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
128 SECOND FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE 32 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 01/04/2014 2850 £1,365.15 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
129 FIRST FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE PE37 7QH 01/11/2009 3100 £1,484.90 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

66



130 FIRST FLOOR FITZROY HOUSE 32 MARKET PLACE PE37 7QH 25/04/2015 5600 £2,682.40 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
131 15 PLOWRIGHT PLACE SWAFFHAM PE37 7LQ 01/12/2016 6700 £3,209.30 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
132 TOWER MEADOWS SWAFFHAM PE37 7LT 17/05/2015 1750 £838.25 CAR SALES GROUND 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
134 OFFICE,R/O 53 STATION STREET SWAFFHAM PE37 7HP 01/04/2003 1000 £479.00 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
144 5A HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AB 01/09/2016 4350 £2,083.65 SHOP AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
145 BULL HOTEL HIGH STREET IP25 6AB 26/06/2009 11750 £5,628.25 PUBLIC HOUSE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
146 R/O 13 HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AB 13/09/2013 2950 £1,413.05 STORE AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
147 10B HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AE 10/01/2014 3300 £1,580.70 RESTAURANT AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
148 82A HIGH STREET WATTON IP25 6AW 07/02/2012 8200 £3,927.80 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
151 UNIT 4,VENTURA HOUSE VENTURA HOUSE IP25 6DW 18/02/2013 2300 £1,101.70 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
152 10 VENTURA HOUSE NORWICH ROAD IP25 6JU 01/04/2016 2250 £1,077.75 OFFICES AND PREMISES 100.00% £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

£440,297.25 £244,271.97 £195,417.58 £48,854.39 £24,427.20 £19,541.76 £4,885.44

Gov £ BDC £ NCC £
No Discretionary 
relief by BDC ‐ 
income if all 
occupied

£122,135.99 £97,708.79 £24,427.20

With 80% 
discretionary 
relief by BDC  ‐ 
income if all 
occupied

£24,427.20 £19,541.76 £4,885.44

Difference 97708.79 78167.03 19541.76
Reduction from 
business rates 

levy 39,083.52
Total cost to 

BDC £39,083.52

Whilst the council are in a "growth" position of NNDR income a levy is paid of 50% of all growth above the Government baseline.
For Breckland this levy is paid into the Norfolk Pool for use on economic development projects in the area.
As detailed, the proposed relief above would reduce the overall NNDR income by £195,418.  This would in turn reduce the levy payable by Breckland by £39,084 meaning the overall impact on Breckland would be £39,084 per year

67



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Philip Cowen, Executive Member Finance 

To: Cabinet, 5 September 2017

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject: Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2017-18

Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 
of the Council as at 30 June 2017 and progress to date on the Moving 
Forward transformation programme

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and appendix is noted.

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 
year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance as at 30 June 2017 for revenue, transformation, capital and 
treasury, with the detail being included in the attached appendix.

1.2 Revenue
The overall forecast below budget spend is £115k.  
The major variances identified are:

 Flexible Homelessness Support grant of £167k received – a report will be coming 
forward to Members shortly regarding the proposed spend of this grant.

 Efficiencies within services not yet achieved £199k – a section on the moving 
forward programme is included in the appendix.

 Above budget Housing Benefit Grant income of £78k.
 Reduced NNDR levy costs of £57k

1.3 Moving Forward Transformation Programme
This programme has delivered savings of £859k (67%) against a target of £1,290k.  The 
programme has been flexed in this years budget to reflect the latest positions of project 
time frames and will continue to be adjusted throughout the programme as necessary.  
Overall the programme has achieved efficiencies of £1,063k by 2020-21 and these have 
already been included in the approved budgets.  As time progresses, it becomes more 
important that these projects begin on time, to deliver the higher levels of savings required 
in subsequent years and this is monitored through the transformation boards.

1.4 Capital
The forecast out-turn shows spend of £8,649k (93%) against the budget at this early stage 
of the year.  Of the £641k under spend, the majority is requested to be carried forward into 
next year and this will be addressed at budget setting time.

1.5 Treasury
The interest income is forecast as £14k above budget for the year as a result of loans to 
3rd parties being for a longer duration than initially budgeted.

68

Agenda Item 9



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the report and appendix be noted.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 
financial position.

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities
5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications.

5.3 Risk Management 
5.3.1 Risks are included within the report.

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those 
variances.

5.5 Transformation Programme
5.5.1 The transformation programme is intrinsically linked to the Council’s budget and this report 
includes progress on the Moving Forward programme to date.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LIBID – London Inter-Bank Bid Rate
7.2 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates

69



Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to Mandatory Service & Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Forecast financial Report for 2017-18 full year

70

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Page 1 of 7

Breckland Council
Financial report for the quarter ended 30 June 2017

This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget and Moving Forward Transformation Programme
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.

Section 1 - Revenue

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 Budget
Forecast 
Out-turn

Forecast 
Variance

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost of Services  
1) Strategy Governance & Transformation 5,490 5,597 107
2) Growth & Commercialisation 1,342 1,469 127
3) Place 6,193 5,923 (270)
4) Housing Benefits (88) (167) (79)
5) Cost of Services 12,937 12,822 (115)

6) Contributions to/from reserves (846) (724) 122
7) Total Cost of Services 12,091 12,098 7

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations 754 717 (37)
9) Government grants (5,444) (5,471) (27)
10) Council Tax (3,414) (3,414) -
11) Retained Business Rates (3,987) (4,045) (58)
12) Total Funding (12,091) (12,213) (122)
 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - (115) (115)

Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2017-18 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor is 0.4% below target to date.  This is on track to achieve the full 4% by
the end of the year, however the forecast assumes that posts will be filled for the remainder of this year
and this will be monitored throughout the year.

71



Page 2 of 7

Table 2 - Significant Variances

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

1) High Impact

1a) Efficiencies Achieved (372,079) 198,918

One off and ongoing efficiencies achieved to date this year (including moving forward targets) are 
below budget at this stage, however work is due to start on projects later in the year to deliver the 
remaining saving.  Where savings are ongoing these have been factored into future years budgets.

2) High Opportunity

2a) Retained NNDR (3,987,847) (57,273)
The forecast NNDR income for 2017-18 is slightly below budget, this leads to a reduction in the levy 
payable in the current year.

2b) Garden Waste, Recycling & 
Waste Collection 1,211,206 (48,454)

Forecasts to date show additional income relating to the garden waste collection scheme, above 
that expected.  This is part of the moving forward programme and any additional income here will 
offset the efficiency target and will be reviewed at Q2 when more data for the year is available.

2c) Appropriations 753,792 (36,778)
This variance relates to additional renewable energy business rates income, which has been 
included in future years budgets.  

3) One Offs

3a) Housing Option 341,329 (168,003)
A £167k Flexible Homelessness Support grant has been received from central government.  A 
report is being prepared to be considered by Members for the spend of this grant.

3b) Forward Planning 729,264 (44,795)
Forecast costs for this are currently below budget, however additional funding may be required for 
projects later in the year as the plan progresses.

3c) Building Control 237,302 (32,805) Additional income received to date compared to forecast. 

3d) Government Grants (5,444,308) (26,777) Additional funding received relating to New Homes Bonus returned funding.

3e) Human Resources 433,340 59,181

There are overspends throughout the cost centre to date and also a moving forward target to be 
achieved. An interim manager is now in place and these variances will be reviewed in early quarter 
2 to resolve.

3j) Housing Benefit (88,193) (78,523)
This relates to increased overpayments and recovery income to date, a better forecast will be 
available at the mid year point as this is a very volatile area of spend & income.

4) Low Impact
4a) Community Development - 
Pride 30,000 (25,000)

This budget is reserve funded and therefore a lower than expected spend has a nil impact on the 
overall budget.

4b) Miscellaneous 6,133,815 (7,690) Net effect of other smaller value variances

4c) Customer Contact 868,413 31,307 The variance relates to the moving forward target and a report regarding this is due later this year.

72



Page 3 of 7

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

4d) Contributions from reserves (846,034) 121,485 Small value under spends throughout all services are offset by this variance.

5) TOTAL - (115,207)

73



Page 4 of 7

Collection Funds
Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £477k overall, with Breckland’s 
share being £47k.  The forecast for 2017-18 is a surplus due to increased tax base and the value will 
be estimated at budget setting, which will be incorporated into next years budgets. 

Retained Business Rates
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account has a residual deficit of £126k overall, 
with Breckland’s share being £50k.  The forecast for 2017-18 is a small deficit, which will be 
incorporated into next years budgets.  Current year forecasts show income to be as expected to date, 
however this will be affected by any appeals which are made during the year.

Virement Decisions Required
There are no virement decisions required.  

Other Risks
The following areas are financial risks which the Council is facing, but the actual financial implications 
have not yet been quantified:

o Footway lighting costs are recharged to some of the towns through a special expense.  The 
costs are higher than the amount we are able to recover through the special expenses for 
those years as they are subject to the Council Tax capping rules.  This will leave a deficit 
balance which may be recoverable in future years if capping levels change or costs for those 
towns reduce.  There are on-going discussions with all relevant parties, including Norfolk 
County Council and the relevant towns to see what action can be taken to deliver a more 
sustainable service

o There are a number of planning appeals currently which could lead to additional legal costs in 
the year

Full risk registers are held within the corporate improvement team.

Actions/Decisions
o None

74



Page 5 of 7

Moving Forward Transformation Programme

The Council’s transformation programme forms an integral part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and once delivered will reduce reliance on central 
government funding by the end of the medium term.  The programme includes a number of different projects within each of the four themes and progress 
against these projects and their related efficiency targets are monitored by the transformation boards.

The programme is currently on track to deliver the 2017-18 efficiencies and the enabling projects, however this is dependent on projects starting on time 
and delivering the full efficiency target in year.  The approval of the ‘Delivery Unit’, once recruited to, will begin to push forward the projects which are 
programmed to deliver growth via the investment and growth fund.  Some projects have overachieved on their targets and others have been slightly 
delayed, but are due to achieve over the term of the programme and the net result is an achievement of £859k, 67% of the full years target.  Re-profiling of 
project start and end dates are made as necessary.   

As time progresses, it becomes more important that the projects begin on time, to deliver the higher levels of savings required in subsequent years and 
this is monitored through the transformation boards.  The full transformation programme will be refreshed as part of the budget process.  

The table below shows the progress against the programme as at 30 June 2017.
 Digitalisation Commercialisation Organisational Design Aligning Public Services Other TOTAL

 
Targe

t
Achieve

d
Balanc

e Target
Achieve

d
Balanc

e
Targe

t
Achieve

d
Balanc

e
Targe

t
Achieve

d
Balanc

e
Targe

t
Achieve

d
Balanc

e Target
Achieve

d
Balanc

e
Year £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

2017-18 (27) (35) (8) (945) (520) 425 (257) (197) 60 (61) (41) 20 0 (66) (66) 
(1,290

) (859) 431 

2018-19 (28) (36) (8) 
(1,325

) (508) 817 (583) (340) 243 (81) (41) 40 0 (8) (8) 
(2,017

) (933) 1,084 

2019-20 (28) (36) (8) 
(1,501

) (481) 1,020 (908) (456) 452 (81) (41) 40 0 (8) (8) 
(2,518

) (1,022) 1,496 

2020-21 (28) (36) (8) 
(1,528

) (521) 1,007 (908) (457) 451 (81) (41) 40 0 (8) (8) 
(2,545

) (1,063) 1,482 

Minimum £36k Minimum £521k Minimum £457k Minimum £41k Minimum £8k Minimum
£1,063

k 

Target £28k Target £1,528k Target £908k Target £81k Target £0k Target
£2,545

k 

Maximum £36k Maximum £1,743k Maximum £908k Maximum £81k Maximum £8k Maximum
£2,776

k 

This table includes the current year efficiencies achieved/to be achieved (1a in table 2) but does not include any of the remaining variance of £115k.

75



Page 6 of 7

Section 2 - Capital

Table 1 - Progress against 17-18 approved capital programme

 
Budget  

£

Forecast
Out-turn

£

Forecast 
(under)/overspend

£
Commercialisation  
   Property (Land & Buildings) 629,153 630,843 1,690
   Capital grants 1,811,000 1,811,000 -
   Capital loans 635,641 635,641 -
   Not yet released 2,521,750 2,541,528 19,778
Total Commercialisation 5,597,544 5,619,012 21,468
Strategy & Governance
   ICT & Organisational Change 529,555 529,555 -
   Not yet released 92,339 92,339 -
Total Strategy & Governance 621,894 621,894 -
Place
   Property (Land & Buildings) 172,889 180,152 7,263
   Grants 1,210,079 1,210,079 -
   Not yet released 1,687,112 1,017,577 (669,535)
Total Place 3,070,080 2,407,808 (662,272)
TOTAL 9,289,518 8,648,714 (640,804)

Forecast outturn £8,648,714 or 93.1%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:

Project

(under)/ 
over spend

£

Carry over 
to Future

£
Commercialisation
DWP Thetford 19,779 - The project should be fully funded by DWP, but until 

such time as the report is approved the additional 
gross spend is showing as an overspend.

AMB Units 
Swaffham

1,690 - Fees associated with the purchase are slightly over 
budget

Strategy & Governance

Place
Adoption of Roads - (669,535) This work will now not be delivered in 2017-18.  The 

budget will be reviewed as part of the 18-19 budget 
setting to confirm amount, profile and delivery 
arrangements. There is a risk that maintenance 
liabilities may increase over time & a backlog of 
adoptions may build up if the budget is not carried 
forward to future years.

2017-18 Car Park 
Resurfacing

7,263 - Some or all of this cost may be recoverable & has 
been requested, but not yet received.

Total 28,732 (669,535) = (£640,804) Total

Virements this qtr:
o None

Risks:
o The affordable housing budget of £818k is partly funded from S106 funding.  £206k of this 

S106 funding has a time restriction and must be spent by September 2018.

Actions/Decisions

o None

76



Page 7 of 7

Section 3 – Treasury

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in low investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.017% 0.043%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £8.1m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
is in excess of the working capital sum required (£5m) but reflects the instant access nature of 
deposits in instant access accounts during this period of low returns.  The council did not use its 
overdraft facility in this reporting period.

Yield

Budget Forecast Variance
Interest receivable 2017-18 £102,308 £116,648 (£14,340)
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.188% 0.956% (0.768%)

The rate of return of 0.956% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the 
target yield.  

 

16,346,090, 59%

3,000,000, 11%

4,543,000, 16%

2,000,000, 7%
1,694,107, 6% banks - UK

Local
authority

Banks - Non
UK

Building
Societies

Loans to 3rd
Parties

Counterparty Exposure

Actions/Decisions required
None

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
32% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

77



Document is Restricted

78

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Breckland Community Funding Applications (Standing Item)
	Carbrooke Village Hall application
	Report Match funding (large) Wayland Partnership
	The Wayland Partnership Development Trust application

	8 Business Rates for the Dereham Pilot Scheme
	Appendix 1 Guidance  Application for Disretionary Rate Relief
	Appendix 2 Discretionary Rate Relief Financial 2017 scheme

	9 Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2017-18
	Appendix A for Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2017-18

	12 Procurement of Waste and Related Services Contract
	B 170824 Procurement of Wast and Related Services Contract


